
Mark Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 

  01525 631920
   info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD

Date Not Specified

To:  The Town Mayor and all Members of Leighton-Linslade Town Council

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Leighton-Linslade Town Council to 
be held on Monday, 30 April 2018 commencing at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, 
The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD.

M Saccoccio
Town Clerk

Prayers will be said at 1920 hours

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it. 

(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).

3.  TOWN MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

4.  LEADERS' ANNOUNCEMENTS 

5.  QUESTIONS 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 30 April 2018

(a) To receive questions and statements from members of the public as 
provided for in Standing Order Nos.1 (f) and 1 (h)  

(b) To receive questions from Councillors as provided for in Standing Order 
No.8 (a) , provided three clear days’ notice of the question has been given 
to the person to whom it is addressed.

6.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 6)

To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Town Council 
meeting held on 29 January 2018 (attached).

7.  GREENSAND COUNTRY LANDSCAPE PARTNERSHIP 

By invitation, Claire Poulton, Programme Manager for the above will attend to 
present information to Council on the Greensand Country Landscape 
Partnership.

8.  COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 7 - 54)

To receive the Minutes of Committee meetings (attached) and to consider 
any recommendations contained therein:

a) Planning & Transport Committee                     7 February 2018
b) Partnership Committee                                    15 February 2018
c) Policy & Finance Committee                            26 February 2018
Recommendation at 334/PF (Calendar of Meetings 2018-2019)

d) Planning & Transport Committee                     28 February 2018
e) Grounds & Environmental Committee               5 March 2018
f) Cultural & Economic Committee                      12 March 2018
g) Policy & Finance Committee                            16 April 2018 
Recommendations at 348/PF, 349/PF and 352/PF
           
h) Planning & 

Transport Committee                         18 April 2018 (to follow)

9.  ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 (Pages 55 - 90)

Further to the recommendation made by the Policy and Finance Committee on 
16 April 2018, to consider approval of the Annual Report for 2017-2018 
(attached).

10.  QUARTERLY UPDATE 

To receive a verbal presentation from the Town Clerk regarding achievements 
since the previous Council meeting (February - April 2018).



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 30 April 2018

11.  REPORT FROM CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCILLORS 

To receive a verbal update from Central Bedfordshire Councillors on matters 
affecting the parish (if applicable).

12.  APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

To receive verbal reports from Councillors, where applicable.  

13.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

The Committee may consider it appropriate to consider the following resolution 
should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to the public 
interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of 
the business about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information. The public and press to withdraw from the 
meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding:

14.  LAND EAST OF BILLINGTON ROAD (Pages 91 - 92)



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda item no 6

Page 85

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING

29 JANUARY 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present:   Councillors  R Berry 
A Brandham (left meeting at 2015 hours)
C Chambers
S Cotter 
K Cursons 
A Dodwell 
S Jones
F Kharawala
T Morris
C Palmer
C Perham
G Perham
S Rahman – in the Chair
E Wallace
D Bowater 
K Ferguson
J M Freeman

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic & Central 
Services)
Clare Cummins (Finance Officer)
M Jahn (Committee Officer)
R Palmer (Friends of Leighton-Linslade in 
Bloom)
D Rosie (Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom)

Members of the Public:   2

198 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been and accepted from Councillor D Perham, 
Councillor S Cursons and Councillor B Spurr.

199 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, and the nature of those interests, 
that they might have in any of the items under consideration at the meeting.  

Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest in agenda item 7 Friends of 
Leighton-Linslade in Bloom, of which his wife was a committee member.

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Council Meeting                                                              29 JANUARY 2018

                                                                                                                   Page 86

Councillor A Dodwell and Councillor D Bowater declared an interest in agenda 
item 12 (Honorary Burgess Nominations 2018) as a nominee was known to them 
and would abstain from voting on this item.

200 TOWN MAYOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS

Councillor S Rahman gave a brief announcement regarding his attendance at 
events of the last three months as well as his own fundraising events, including 
the Charity Ball, Rock of Ages Concert, carol concert and the coffee morning 
held at Pizza Express.  Forthcoming charity events include the Civic Service on 
25 February, bucket collection at MK Dons on 3 March, Spring Fair at Astral 
Park on 17 March, James Goff concert on 11 April and a Bingo Night on 18 
May, which he hoped Councillors would support.  

Councillor Rahman thanked all members and officers for their continued support 
and hard work raising money for his chosen charities over the year.

201 LEADERS’ ANNOUNCEMENTS

Councillor E Wallace thanked the Mayor for his continued work and for attending 
events on behalf of the Town Council.  In respect of agenda item 9 (Budget 
2018-2019), it was highlighted that the proposed budget and precept would 
mean no increase in the Town Council proportion of the Council Tax for the 
sixth consecutive year.  This demonstrated good sound management of 
finances within the Council with the continued ability to deliver a variety of good 
quality events and services throughout the year for the benefit of the community.  
He hoped this success would be built on and thus continue into the next financial 
year. The Leader expressed thanks to Town Council staff and Councillors for 
their hard work on developing the budget for the forthcoming year and for their 
continued efforts in delivering quality services for the parish. 

202 QUESTIONS 

(a) One question had been received from a local resident in respect of agenda 
item 11 (Community Governance arrangements within Central 
Bedfordshire). The question sought clarification on whether the town council 
was submitting a response to the consultation being run by Central 
Bedfordshire Council and the ability of the existing number of councillors 
being able to represent their Leighton Buzzard constituents with the growth 
in housing.  

(b) No questions had been received from Councillors. 

203 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Council received the draft minutes of the previous Council meeting held on 25 
September 2017 for consideration.  Council also received a letter from the 
external Auditor, which had arrived the day after the September Council 
meeting. Council was asked to approve and accept the Auditor’s Certificate 
and Opinion on the Annual Return.

Page 2



Council Meeting                                                              29 JANUARY 2018

                                                                                                                   Page 87

It was noted that an incorrect time of 1755 hours had been recorded for 
Councillor D Bowater leaving the meeting and this time would be amended to 
1955 hours.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Council meeting held on 25 September 
2017 be approved as a correct record and were signed accordingly.  

RESOLVED to approve and accept the Auditor’s Certificate and Opinion 
on the Annual Return.

204 FRIENDS OF LEIGHTON-LINSLADE IN BLOOM

Council received a verbal report from Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom 
detailing the work carried out by them over the last year and what they hoped 
would be achieved this year.  

Concerns were raised by Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom and town 
councillors about the lack of response by Central Bedfordshire Council over 
many years to repair broken fences and railings, tidying and weeding.  During 
the In Bloom judging each untidy area or broken fence or railings would result 
in a deduction of marks meaning no matter how well the gardens were tended, 
a higher award could not be achieved.

Council agreed that The Town Clerk should bring this to the attention of the 
Chief Executive of Central Bedfordshire Council and invite a representative of 
Central Bedfordshire Council to attend a meeting of the Partnership Committee 
in order that the Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom could present their case 
directly to them.

The representatives of the Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom were thanked 
for attending the meeting and for their presentation. 

RESOLVED to note the information.

205 COMMITTEE MINUTES

Council received the draft minutes of Committee meetings held since the 
Council Annual Meeting on 25 September 2017.

RESOLVED to receive the minutes of the following meetings:

(a) Planning & Transport Committee 27 September 2017
(b) Planning & Transport Committee 18 October 2017
(c) Planning & Transport Committee 8 November 2017
(d) Policy & Finance Committee 20 November 2017

Minute reference 302/PF (Protocol for Death of a Senior National Figure)

RESOLVED to approve the protocol for marking the death of a senior 
national figure.

Page 3



Council Meeting                                                              29 JANUARY 2018

                                                                                                                   Page 88

(e) Partnership Committee 30 November 2017
(f) Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 4 December 2017

Minute reference 086/GE (Vandyke Road Playing Fields)

RESOLVED to endorse the demolition of the former changing rooms at
Vandyke Road Playing Fields.

(g) Planning & Transport Committee 6 December 2017

Minute ref 302/P: Members asked if any response had been received from 
Central Bedfordshire Council regarding concerns of traffic flow in West Street. 
No response had been received therefore this would be followed up.  

(h) Planning & Transport Committee 3 January 2018
(i) Cultural & Economic Services Committee 10 January 2018
(j) Policy & Finance Committee 15 January 2018

Minute reference 315/PF: The Town Clerk confirmed that clarification had been 
sought from Central Bedfordshire Council regarding the council tax base.  Central 
Bedfordshire Council confirmed the number provided was correct.

Minute reference 317/PF (Risk Register Action Plan 2018-19): it was noted that 
the entire risk register had been reviewed and a full copy presented to the Policy 
and Finance Committee. The action plan, detailing priority items for 2018-19, had 
been recommended to Council for approval. 

RESOLVED to approve the Risk Register and Action Plan for 2018-2019, to 
be signed by the Town Mayor and Responsible Financial Officer.

(k) Planning & Transport Committee 17 January 2018

206 BUDGET AND PRECEPT FOR 2018-2019 

Council received a report and a proposed budget for 2018-2019 and was asked 
to consider the 2017-2018 projected out-turn, approve the 2018-2019 budget 
and set the precept for 2018-2019. 

It was proposed and seconded that no change be made to the previous year’s 
precept of £149.58 for a Band D equivalent. On being put to the vote, the motion 
was carried.

RESOLVED to approve the budget for 2018-2019. 

RESOLVED to approve a precept of £2,134,507 for 2018-2019, the 
proposed band D dwelling amount being unchanged at £149.58. 

RESOLVED to note the five year financial plan for 2018-19 until 2021-22. 

Page 4



Council Meeting                                                              29 JANUARY 2018

                                                                                                                   Page 89

207 QUARTERLY UPDATE

A brief presentation was given to Council by the Town Clerk highlighting the 
events and successes of the previous quarter, including the Living History Day, 
Christmas Festival, progression of the Market town regeneration projects, 
TACTIC Youth Promise Grant Scheme, play area improvements, tree planting 
and footfall counting in Parson’s Close, activities at Astral Park and an update 
on central services projects including I.T. improvements and preparation for the 
new General Data Protection Regulation.

RESOLVED to note the information.  

208 CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE CONSULTATION REGARDING COMMUNITY 
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

Council received information on the current consultation in respect of 
Community Governance Arrangements. It was noted that councillors had 
opportunity of submitting their own individual responses but agreed that a formal 
Town Council response should also be submitted. The general agreement was 
that following changes to the ward boundaries in 2011, the current ward 
structure remained fit for purpose.  It was further agreed that representation by 
elected members did not require change at the present time.  However, the view 
was expressed that at the next review in 2023, it might prove appropriate to 
review boundaries and representation again, as further development would 
have taken place to the south and east of the town. 

In respect of the current consultation, it was agreed that in line with previous 
Town Council resolutions, a representation should be submitted seeking that the 
agreed eastern urban extension be included within the parish of Leighton-
Linslade, as residents on this new development would be looking to the town for 
their services.  

RESOLVED:
(i) To submit a formal Town Council response to the Central 

Bedfordshire Consultation regarding Community Governance 
arrangements

(ii) To delegate to the Town Clerk authority to draft and submit the 
representation on behalf of the Town Council. 

209 HONORARY BURGESS NOMINATIONS 2018

Council received and considered three nominations for the 2018 Honorary 
Burgess award as recommended by the Grants & Awards Sub-Committee on 
13 November 2017 and the Policy & Finance Committee on 15 January 2018.

RESOLVED to award the Title of Dignity of the 2018 Honorary Burgess of 
Leighton-Linslade to Danielle Harding, Margaret Brown and Michael 
Rowland, in recognition of their years of voluntary service to the 
community. 

Page 5



Council Meeting                                                              29 JANUARY 2018

                                                                                                                   Page 90

210 REPORT FROM CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCILLORS

Councillor R Berry gave a brief update in respect of the proposed new road near 
Chamberlains Barn and concerns around whether Shenley Hill Road would be 
used as an access to the new estate being planned in this area.  

RESOLVED to note the information.

211 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES

Councillor K Cursons would be taking over from Councillor S Cursons on the 
Sports Council.  No objections were raised.

Councillor A Dodwell stated she had not heard from Meadow Way Community 
Association and requested this was followed up.

Councillor F Kharawala informed Council that the Citizens Advice Bureau had 
been proactive in organising fundraising events to help their cause. Councillors 
were encouraged to attend the forthcoming fundraising concert on 24 February. 

Councillor S Jones, member of Leighton-Linslade Music Centre, informed 
Council that Dunstable Music Centre had now closed.  A new guitar teacher had 
joined the Leighton-Linslade Music Centre and it was hoped this would enable 
more regular guitar classes to be scheduled.

RESOLVED to note the information.  

212 APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES

No changes were made to appointments to committees.

The meeting closed at 2109 hours. 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 JANUARY 2018.

Chair                          30 APRIL 2018

Page 6



Page 152

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present:  Councillors A Brandham 
J M Freeman
C Palmer – in the Chair
A Dodwell
B Spurr
S Cotter
D Perham

          Also in attendance:   M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
S Sandiford (Head of Central and Democratic 
Services)

Members of the public: 2

330/P APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

No apologies for absence had been received.

331/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.  No declarations were made.

332/P PUBLIC QUESTIONS

There were no questions from members of the public.

333/P MINUTES OF LAST MEETING

The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport 
Committee meeting held on 17 January 2018.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 17 January 2018 be approved as a correct record and were 
signed accordingly.

334/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS

The Committee reviewed applications received up until Friday 2 February 
2018.

Discussion took place regarding application reference CB/17/05971/OUT 
(Land at northern Chamberlains Barn). It was noted that the site was included 
in the draft Local Plan. Whilst the Committee had no objection to the outline 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



Planning and Transport Committee 7 FEBRUARY 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 153

application as such, concerns were expressed about the addition of a further 
253 dwellings to the already agreed Eastern Urban Extension and the 
pressures that would be added to an already inadequate infrastructure in the 
town. It was agreed that a verbal representation should be made to 
Development Management Committee to expand upon this point, when the 
application was given consideration. 

The Committee welcomed the proposed percentage of affordable housing on 
the site and recognised that this was much needed. 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/17/05971/OUT (land at 
northern Chamberlains Barn), subject to the following:

(i) That consideration be given to the already inadequate 
infrastructure in the parish of Leighton-Linslade and how to 
improve this

(ii) That the Town Council be engaged early in discussions regarding 
S.106 contributions, particularly in respect of open spaces

(iii) That adequate provision be made within the application site for car 
parking and suitable road widths 

The Committee gave consideration to application reference CB/17/06062 
(creation of a new link road at land north of Chamberlains Barn, between 
Shenley Hill Road and Heath Road). Universal concerns were expressed 
about the potential creation of a “rat run” and the unsuitability of the proposed 
location for a roundabout. The Town Council had previously expressed strong 
support for the Eastern Distributor road and it was understood that the 
developers had previously given assurances that additional traffic through 
Heath and Reach or onto Heath Road would be minimised. The Committee 
did not feel that the development of a further 253 houses warranted the 
development of a dedicated vehicular exit route onto Shenley Hill Road. 

On being put to the vote, it was unanimously agreed to express objection to 
the proposed application. 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that 
objection be made to application reference CB/17/06062 (land at 
northern Chamberlains Barn, between Shenley Hill Road and Heath 
Road) on the grounds that the proposed link road was unnecessary, in 
contradiction to previous agreements regarding vehicular movements 
and a wholly unsuitable location for a roundabout on Shenley Hill Road. 

The Committee gave consideration to application reference 
CB/17/05681/OUT (land at Station Approach, Station Road, Linslade). 
Concerns were expressed that during the time since approval of the previous 
application for development on the site, parking issues had significantly 
increased at the railway station and roads in the vicinity, leading to the 
necessary introduction of resident parking schemes and other parking 
restrictions. It was felt that the proposed level of car parking on the site would 
be unrealistic and might therefore exacerbate existing parking problems in the 
area. 

Page 8



Planning and Transport Committee 7 FEBRUARY 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 154

Following discussion, it was proposed that no objection be made but that 
concerns regarding car parking be expressed to the planning authority. On 
being put to the vote, the motion was carried (five in favour, two against). 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/17/05681/OUT (Land at 
Station Approach, Station Road, Linslade) but that the Town Council 
would request the following:
(i) That the planning authority give consideration to the significant 

increase in car parking issues in the vicinity of the railway station 
since approval of the previous planning application.

(ii) That the design of the proposed development should be in keeping 
with the Linslade conservation area.

(iii) That the Town Council would request S106 contributions for the 
purpose of improving public open space at Linslade Recreation 
Ground. 

Consideration was given to application reference CB/17/06018 (Corbetts Hill 
Farm, Taylors Ride). The Committee unanimously agreed to object to 
application on the Green Belt policy grounds which was also believed to be 
within the flood plain. The proposed development was considered to be 
inappropriate for the site and the proposed vehicular access was considered 
to be inadequate and unsuitable. 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that 
objection be made to application reference CB/17/06018 (Corbetts Hill 
Farm, Taylors Ride) on the grounds that the proposed demolition of 
former agricultural buildings and their replacement with buildings to be 
used for residential purposes was inappropriate on policy grounds. The 
applicant had not demonstrated the existence of very sepcial 
circumstances sufficient to override established plan policy. 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following applications:

1 CB/18/00053 9 MANNOCK WAY
2. CB/18/00062 2 JUPITER DRIVE
3. CB/17/06007 LEIGHTON MIDDLE SCHOOL
4. CB/18/00121 20 KESTREL WAY
5. CB/18/00060 19 ASHWELL STREET
6. CB/18/00088 28 ORCHARD DRIVE, LINSLADE
7. CB/17/05992 TESCO EXPRESS,49 CONISTON ROAD,

LINSLADE
8. CB/17/05319/ADV 49 CONISTON ROAD, LINSLADE
9. CB/18/00122 24 MIDDLETON WAY
10.CB/18/00260/LB 23A-23B HIGH STREET
11.CB/17/05657 49 HARROW ROAD
12.CB/18/00288 11 WOODMAN CLOSE
13.CB/18/00294 32 ST LEONARDS CLOSE
14.CB/18/00207 4 CROXLEY COURT, MILLBANK
15.CB/18/00054 STONHILL LODGE, 54 BILLINGTON ROAD
16.  CB/18/00220 52 ORION WAY
17.  CB/18/00065 LAND AT 48 HOCKLIFFE STREET

Page 9



Planning and Transport Committee 7 FEBRUARY 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 155

RESOLVED to note the following applications for works to trees:

1. CB/TRE/18/00006 291 HEATH ROAD
2. CB/TRE/18/00008 18 DERWENT ROAD, LINSLADE
3. CB/TRE/18/00009 WOODSIDE, PLANTATION ROAD
4. CB/TRE/18/00016 50 CAMBERTON ROAD,LINSLADE
5. CB/TRE/18/00012 7 CHESTNUT HILL, LINSLADE

335/P TRANSPORT MATTERS

The Committee was advised that the Central Bedfordshire Licensing Committee 
had given approval for the temporary relocation of the taxi rank on market days.

The Committee expressed disappointment and frustration at the lack of response 
from the highways authority in respect of local transport matters. It was agreed 
to write to the Chief Executive and all Central Bedfordshire Councillors on this 
matter. 

336/P      INFORMATION ITEMS

The Committee was advised that the Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway 
Society had requested permission to erect a second sign on Billington Road. This 
would be identical to the existing sign. No objections were expressed by the 
Committee subject to the Railway meeting all costs and seeking all relevant 
permissions.   

 

The meeting closed at 2045 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD 7 FEBRUARY 2018.

Chair      28 February 2018 

Page 10



    

Page 81

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE PARTNERSHIP COMMITTEE

THURSDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present: Councillors A Brandham – LLTC
A Dodwell - CBC
K Ferguson – CBC
R Berry (substituting F Kharawala – LLTC)
T Morris - LLTC – in the Chair
C Palmer – LLTC
B Spurr - CBC
G Tubb – CBC
E Wallace – LLTC 
G Perham (substituting B Walker - CBC)

Also in attendance:     M Saccoccio, Town Clerk
V Cannon (Head of Cultural & Economic Services)
M Jahn (Committee Officer)
G Borelli (Chair, LB First) 
B Chandler (Chair, LB Connect)
S Hughes (Community Engagement Manager, 
Central Bedfordshire Council)
T Humber, LLCT/Community Forum

           Members of the Public: 1
Members of the Press: 0

185/LLP  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received and accepted from Councillor B Walker 
(substituted by Councillor G Perham) and Councillor F Kharawala (substituted 
by Councillor R Berry).

186/LLP DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.  
No declarations were made and no dispensations had been requested. 

187/LLP PUBLIC QUESTIONS

No questions from members of the public.

Page 11



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 15 FEBRUARY 2018     
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                        Page  82

188/LLP MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Committee received the draft minutes of the Partnership Committee 
meeting held on 30 November 2017. 

Minute reference 180/LLP: an update was given informing the Committee the 
Review of Joint Committees was still under discussion by Central Bedfordshire 
Council and a further update would be given at the next meeting.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Partnership Committee meeting held 
on 30 November 2017 be approved as a correct record and be signed 
accordingly.  

189/LLP ENABLING DELIVERY IN LEIGHTON-LINSLADE 

Sarah Hughes Community Engagement Manager, Central Bedfordshire 
Council informed the Committee that she is exploring availability of Jason 
Longhurst to attend the meeting on 26 April 2018, to provide an update 
regarding the potential development of the south side of the High Street.

  RESOLVED to note the information.

190/LLP TAXIS

 The Committee received a verbal update in respect of taxis in the town centre.
Concerns were raised regarding the number of taxis parking outside of the 
designated taxi rank in the town centre and the length of time taken to reach a 
solution to this problem.  It was suggested a letter be written to Central 
Bedfordshire Council and a consultation started with the taxi companies to try 
and solve this problem.  The consultation should be focussed on the taxis 
parking at the rear of Iceland and agreeing with the shops involved how this 
could work with deliveries to their stores and access to the multi-storey car 
park.  

A position has been reached regarding taxi parking on the opposite side of the 
road to the taxi rank on a Market Day to enable stalls to be erected in that 
space.

RESOLVED to note the information.

191/LLP MARKET TOWN REGENERATION FUND

The Committee received a brief verbal update in respect of the three projects 
approved for funding through the Market Towns Regeneration Fund: the market 
relaunch, architectural uplighting and electronic signage.  A total of five shops 
had signed up for improvements to their shop fronts under the High Street 
Improvement Scheme and work was due to start late February/early March.  

Concerns were raised regarding the general maintenance in the town and the 
Committee members requested a letter from Leighton-Linslade Town Council be 

Page 12



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 15 FEBRUARY 2018     
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                        Page  83

written requesting repairs and maintenance to be carried out.  The Town Clerk 
confirmed an officer from Central Bedfordshire Council had agreed to visit the 
Old Fires Station (Pizza Express) to see the condition of the building and it was 
hoped at this time other issues could be raised with him regarding broken paving 
and general lack of maintenance in the town centre.

An update was also given to the Committee regarding the Electronic Signage, 
Architectural Lighting Projects and the progress of the Market Relaunch.  All 
were progressing and sites have been identified for the electronic signage and 
the architectural lighting.

RESOLVED to note the report.

192/LLP ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR AND HOMELESSNESS

M Westerby and T Keaveney were unable to attend the meeting so a report 
would be given to the next meeting on the 26 April 2018. 

193/LLP COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN

The Committee received and gave consideration to the objectives and work plan 
for the municipal year 2017-2018.  The Anti-Social Behaviour and 
Homelessness presentation to be rescheduled for the next meeting of the 
Committee on 26 April 2018.  Also the Business Support report would be 
deferred until the meeting on 26 April 2018 following a Central Bedfordshire 
Council review of the service offer.  

It was agreed to remove Purple Flag from the Work Plan and add a section 
regarding NEET young people (Not in Employment, Education or Training) and 
adults in the town and how to address this.  This would be drafted before the 
next meeting on 26 April 2018.

RESOLVED to note the report.

194/LLP CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNICL UPDATE REPORT

The Committee received an update report from Central Bedfordshire Council on 
matters relating to the parish, including information in respect of social care, 
health and housing, crime figures, antisocial behaviour, business rates, car 
parking, transport matters, community services, Billington Gypsy & Traveller 
Project, waste, schools, public health  and services for young people.  

The Committee thanked Sarah Hughes, Community Engagement Officer CBC, 
for her full and clear report.

RESOLVED to note the report. 

Page 13



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 15 FEBRUARY 2018     
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                        Page  84

195/LLP BUSINESS GROUPS UPDATES

The Committee received a brief update from B Chandler, Chair of the LB 
Connect business networking group. A Networking Evening would be held on 
23 April 2018 from 5.30 pm to 8.00 pm at the Golf Club.  All members would be 
welcome.

RESOLVED to note the report. 

G Borelli of LB First raised concerns regarding –

(a) The amount of roadworks in the town and the timing of these works.
(b) The ongoing issues with the multi-storey car park and the high minimum 

charge and no change being given.  
(c) The amendment to bus routes and the effect this may have on business 

within the town.

The Committee agreed a representative from the Highways Department should 
be invited to a meeting of the Committee to provide relevant data and statistics 
of the multi-storey car park and also an invitation should be extended to Arriva 
Bus Company to attend a meeting for clarification on changing bus routes. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

196/LLP COMMUNITY FORUM UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update from the Community Forum Steering 
Group.  The Steering Group meeting is scheduled for the 5 May at the Theatre 
in the Library from 10.00 am to 12.00 noon.  This would be publicised on the 
website and on social media.  

RESOLVED to note the information. 

197/LLP BUDGET REPORTS 

The Committee received a brief report regarding the current year budget to date.

RESOLVED to –

(i) note the report
(ii) carry forward unspent Community Forum delivery budget funds of 

£500 into 2018/2019, Earmarked Reserves.
 

The meeting closed at 2151 hours. 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THIS IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 15 FEBRUARY 2018.

Page 14



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 15 FEBRUARY 2018     
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                        Page  85

Chair 26 APRIL 2018  

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 130

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

26 FEBRUARY 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present:  Councillors: R Berry
S Cotter
A Dodwell 
K Ferguson
J M Freeman
S Jones – in the Chair
K Cursons
S Cursons (arrived at 1950 hours)
C Palmer
T Morris (substituting for G Perham)

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central 
Services)
A Holden (Senior Administrative Officer)
M Jahn (Committee Officer) 

Members of the public: 0

322/PF APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor E Wallace, Councillor 
F Kharawala and Councillor G Perham (substituted by Councillor T Morris).

323/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. No declarations were made.

324/PF QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

There were no questions from members of the public. 

325/PF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Committee received the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 15 January 2018 for consideration.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 15 January 2018 be approved as a correct record and 
signed accordingly. 

Page 17



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 131

326/PF COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN

The Committee received the Work Plan and objectives for 2017-2018. A 
question was raised regarding the progress of on-line bookings/payments 
and e-ticketing.  The Committee was advised that on-line bookings would 
be difficult to implement because of the variation of facilities offered in the 
different sites and buildings, meaning that an element of human 
intervention was needed in considering the most appropriate site, room or 
pitch for a booking.  However, it remained the intention to trial e-ticketing in 
certain circumstances.

RESOLVED to note the Committee Objectives and Work Plan for 2017-
2018. 

327/PF JANUARY PAYMENTS 2018

The Committee received one set of schedule of payments which had 
previously been approved for payment by the Town Clerk and 
countersigned by two account signatories.          

The schedule for January  dated 9 February 2018  included BACS 
payments amounting to £116,556.36  (page numbers 2276 - 2287) and 
cheque payments amounting to £2,368.23 (cheque numbers 17142-
17151), including White House petty cash amounting to £71.66, Astral Park 
£160.32.

The monthly salaries listing for January 2018 amounting to £93,389.27 
gross was received.  A cash book report for January 2018, including details 
of all direct debit payments, was also received.

RESOLVED to note the schedules of accounts for January 2018.

It was noted that all payments had been made within the budget and that 
there were no irregularities to be drawn to the attention of the Committee. 

328/PF TOWN COUNCIL MEMBERSHIPS

The Committee received a list advising of all current memberships of other 
bodies, for the Town Council and/or employees. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

329/PF     COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE

The Committee received a report and work plan in respect of 
communications, including the Town Council website, social media 
channels and overall communications strategy. 

Page 18



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 132

A question was raised about the number of copies of the About Town which 
were printed each time and whether they were all distributed.  It was 
confirmed that 2,000 copies were printed and a further 700 viewed on-line 
for each publication.  It was suggested that seeking more advertising 
income might allow further pages to be printed and therefore help in 
ensuring enough space to support the promotion of local events or 
organisations. This would be given consideration but it was noted that a 
balance was to be achieved between the amount of paid advertising, the 
amount of promotion of other organisations and ensuring enough focus on 
key Town Council communications and messages.

RESOLVED to note the report.
 

330/PF COMMUNITY EMERGENCY PLAN UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update in respect of the proposed 
Community Emergency Plan.  Following some initial work by the volunteer 
co-ordinator for the Plan and officers, it was intended that an open evening 
be held in early May, to which representatives of key local organisations 
would be invited, as well as any interested members of the public. A 
Steering Group would then be formed to take the Plan forward by finalising 
the content, seeking Committee endorsement and setting up ongoing 
communication channels.  

RESOLVED to note the information.

331/PF     COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

The Committee received and considered a report and draft revised 
Community Engagement Strategy.  It was noted that the existing document 
was out of date and required revision to ensure that an up to date and fit for 
purpose policy was in place in respect of community engagement.

RESOLVED to -

1.1 note the report.
1.2 endorse that a period of public consultation be commenced in 

respect of the draft revised Community Engagement Strategy.

332/PF DATA PROTECTION UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update in respect of General Data 
Protection Regulation. An information pack had been sent out to all 
Councillors, staff training would continue over the next two weeks and 
policies would continue to be updated and older documents disposed of.  
The appointment of a Data Protection Officer would come back to 
Committee for discussion in April.

RESOLVED to note the information.

Page 19



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 133

333/PF MARKET TOWN REGENERATION PROJECT UPDATE

The Committee received a brief verbal update on the projects currently 
underway and part funded by the grant funding received as part of Central 
Bedfordshire Council’s Market Towns Regeneration Fund. A verbal update 
was also provided in respect of the High Street Improvement Scheme, 
electronic signage, architectural lighting and the market redevelopment. 

RESOLVED to note the information. 

334/PF CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2018-2019

The Committee received a draft Calendar of Meetings for the municipal 
year 2018-2019 for consideration, based on the committee structure and 
meeting frequency approved by Council in June 2016. It was clarified that 
additional, provisional dates for the Cultural & Economic Services 
Committee had been included in order that any grant applications for the 
Youth Promise grant could be considered, but the meetings would not 
otherwise take place. 

RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the proposed Calendar of 
Meetings for the municipal year 2018-2019 (see Appendix A). 

335/PF EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) 
Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential 
nature of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding: (a) Town Council premises.

336/PF   TOWN COUNCIL PREMISES

The Committee received a verbal update on the Town Council premises 
informing them that the appointed Estate Surveyor is still in negotiations 
with the Landlord to challenge the proposed rent increase.

The meeting closed at 2037 hours.   

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 FEBRUARY 2018.

Chair   16 APRIL 2018.

Page 20



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 134

APPENDIX A

Calendar of Meetings 2018-2019
All meetings are held in The White House and commence at 1930 hours, unless 

otherwise stated

May 2018 
Mon 07 BANK HOLIDAY
Wed 09 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 14 Grants & Awards Sub Committee
Thur 17 Market Sub Committee (1030)
Mon 21 COUNCIL ANNUAL MEETING

(Astral Park)
Mon 28 BANK HOLIDAY
Wed 30 Planning & Transport Committee

June 2018
Mon 04 Grounds & Environmental Services 

Committee
Thur 07 Partnership Committee
Mon 11 Cultural & Economic Services

Committee
Mon 18 Policy & Finance Committee 
Wed 20 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 25 COUNCIL

July 2018
Mon 02 Personnel Sub-Committee
Wed 11 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 16 Police Liaison Sub-Committee
Mon 23 Cultural & Economic Services 

Committee (provisional)
Mon 30 Policy & Finance Committee

August 2018
Wed 01 Planning & Transport Committee
Thur 16 Market Sub-Committee (1030)
Wed 22 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 27 BANK HOLIDAY

September 2018
Mon 03 Cultural & Economic Services 

Committee
Thur 06 Partnership Committee
Mon 10 Grounds & Environmental Services

Committee
Wed 12 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 17 Policy & Finance Committee
Mon 24 COUNCIL

October 2018
Wed 03 Planning & Transport Committee 
Mon 08 Personnel Sub-Committee  
Mon 15 Cultural & Economic Committee 

(provisional)
Mon 22 Police Liaison Sub-Committee
Wed 24 Planning & Transport Committee

Page 21



Policy and Finance Committee 26 FEBRUARY 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 135

November 2018 
Mon 05 Grants & Awards Sub-Committee
Wed 14 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 19 Policy & Finance Committee
Thur 22 Market Sub-Committee (1030)
Thur 29 Partnership Committee

December 2018
Mon 03 Grounds & Environmental Services 

Committee
Mon 10 Cultural & Economic Services

Committee
Wed 12 Planning & Transport Committee

January 2019
Mon      07 Personnel Sub-Committee
Wed 09 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 14 Police Liaison Sub-Committee 
Mon 21 Policy & Finance Committee
Mon 28 COUNCIL
Wed 30 Planning & Transport Committee

February 2019
Thur 07 Partnership Committee
Wed 20 Planning & Transport Committee
Thur 21 Market Sub-Committee (1030)
Mon 25 Policy & Finance Committee

March 2019
Mon 04 Grounds & Environmental Services 

Committee
Mon 11 Cultural & Economic Services

Committee
Wed 13 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 18 PARISH MEETING 
Mon 25 Personnel Sub-Committee 

April 2019
Mon 01 Police Liaison Sub-Committee
Wed 03 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 08 Grants & Awards Sub-Committee
Thur 11 Partnership Committee
Mon 15 Policy & Finance Committee
Mon 22 BANK HOLIDAY
Mon 29 COUNCIL

May 2019
Wed 01 Planning & Transport Committee
Mon 06 BANK HOLIDAY
Mon 20 COUNCIL ANNUAL MEETING

(Astral Park)
Mon 27 BANK HOLIDAY
Wed 29 Planning & Transport Committee
Thur 30 Market Sub-Committee (1030)

Page 22



Page 156

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 28 FEBRUARY 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present:  Councillors J M Freeman
C Palmer – in the Chair
A Dodwell
S Cotter
D Perham
J Davies

          Also in attendance:   M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
S Sandiford (Head of Central and Democratic 
Services)

Members of the public:     1

337/P APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors A Brandham and 
B Spurr.

338/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.  No declarations were made.

339/P PUBLIC QUESTIONS

There were no questions from members of the public.

340/P MINUTES OF LAST MEETING

The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport 
Committee meeting held on 7 February 2018.

Minute reference 335/P: it was noted that a letter had been sent to the Chief 
Executive at Central Bedfordshire Council and that an acknowledgement of 
receipt had been received back. 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 7 February 2018 be approved as a correct record and were 
signed accordingly.

341/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS

The Committee reviewed applications received up until Friday 23 February 
2018.

Page 23



Planning and Transport Committee 28 FEBRUARY 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 157

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following applications:

1. CB/18/00059 Le-Ora 59 STEPPINGSTONE PLACE
2. CB/18/00500 113 HOCKLIFFE ROAD
3. CB/18/00418 31 MILEBUSH, LINSLADE
4. CB/18/00309 39 APPENINE WAY
5. CB/18/00547 55 HEATH COURT
6. CB/18/00551 8 ULLSWATER DRIVE, LINSLADE
7. CB/18/00608 69 CHELSEA GREEN, LINSLADE
8. CB/18/00454 30 MELFORT DRIVE, LINSLADE

RESOLVED to note the following applications for works to trees:

1. CB/TRE/18/00030 50 CAMBERTON ROAD, LINSLADE
2. CB/TRE/18/00031 21 TAYLORS RIDE
3. CB/TRE/18/00046 6 ROBINSWOOD CLOSE
4. CB/TRE/18/00045 49 STOKE ROAD, LINSLADE

The Committee received a report regarding comments made on planning 
applications between May 2017 – January 2018 and the determinations made 
subsequently by the planning authority. It was agreed that the report made 
interesting reading and thanks were expressed to the Chair for the work involved 
in undertaking the report. When appropriate, the Chair or Town Clerk will 
continue to attend and make representations to the Central Bedfordshire Council 
Development Management Committee.  

RESOLVED to note the report. 

342/P TRANSPORT MATTERS

The Committee received a Public Notice issued by Central Bedfordshire Council 
in respect of a proposed variation order at the car park at Tiddenfoot Leisure 
Centre, to establish timed restrictions on weekdays to prevent commuter parking 
and to allocate blue badge disabled spaces within the car park with a three hour 
time limit. 

It was agreed that a comment be submitted suggesting that should any events 
take place at the Centre during the proposed periods, for example swimming 
galas, then provision might need to be made for longer stay parking on those 
occasions.

343/P      INFORMATION ITEMS

The Committee was advised that the application to build on land north of 
Soulbury Road, Linslade had been withdrawn and that the outcome of the 
consultation on the draft Local Plan would be awaited.  

RESOLVED to note the information. 

 

Page 24



Planning and Transport Committee 28 FEBRUARY 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 158

The meeting closed at 1946 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD 28 FEBRUARY 2018.

Chair      18 APRIL 2018 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                      Page 34

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

MONDAY 5 MARCH 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present: Councillors: R Berry
A Brandham 
C Palmer (substituting for S Cursons)  
A Dodwell
C Perham   
S Jones – in the Chair

Also in attendance:  I Haynes (Head of Grounds & Environmental 
Services)
M Saccoccio, Town Clerk
M Penton (Senior Centre Co-ordinator, Astral 
Park) left meeting at 1959 hours
M Jahn (Committee Officer)

                    Members of the public: 0
Members of the press:  0

098/GE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor S Cursons 
(substituted by Councillor C Palmer), Councillor B Spurr and Councillor T 
Morris.

 
099/GE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.

Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest as a member of the Friends 
of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom.

101/GE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

No members of the public were present.

102/GE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Committee received the draft minutes of the Grounds and Environmental 
Services Committee meeting held on 4 December  2017.

Minute reference 079/GE Minutes of the previous meeting – a question was 
raised about the refurbishment of Pages Park Pavillion.  It was noted that the  
process was still on-going and discussions would be held between the 

Page 27



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 5 MARCH 2018    
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 35

present users and the Town Council to achieve the best outcome for all 
concerned whilst the refurbishment took place. 

Minute reference 086/GE Vandyke Road Playing Fields – it was noted that 
the demolition of the former changing rooms had now taken place.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Grounds and 
Environmental Services Committee held on 4 December 2017 be 
approved as a correct record and were signed accordingly.

103/GE ASTRAL PARK SPORTS AND COMMUNITY CENTRE

The Committee received an update report in respect of the Astral Park Sports 
and Community Centre, including a general overview, attendance, activities 
and events held at the Centre.  The Wedding Fayre held on 25 February 
2018 had been a very successful event, 86 people attended and two 
weddings had been booked up for September 2019.  A second Wedding 
Fayre would be taking place in September/October 2018 to hopefully pick up 
bookings for the following summer months. Discussions were also going 
ahead with the Voluntary and Community 50+ Action Group to work in 
partnership to provide events at Astral Park.

The Committee discussed recommendation 1.2 to endorse a 10% flat rate in 
all centre hire fees and charges. The Committee agreed to defer this to the 
next meeting to receive detailed projections to substantiate figures before a 
decision could be made.

RESOLVED to -

1.1note the report
1.2defer to next Committee meeting
1.3endorse a 70% gross profit margin on all catering
1.4revoke minute reference 581/LC Catering at Astral Park

104/GE COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN 

The Committee received the work plan for the municipal year 2017-2018 for 
consideration and draft work plan for 2018-2019.

The Committee discussed objective 10 in the 2017-2018 Work Plan to 
investigate the possibility of providing a Town Ranger service.  It was noted 
that equipment had been purchased and used mainly to clean off graffiti on 
Town Council property and this process would be on-going.  

It was noted for objective 12 that this would be on-going with cemetery 
records now computerised up to 2010.

A question was raised regarding the Mausoleum objective no 26 and if this 
project had now been completed.  The Head of Grounds and Environmental 
Services confirmed the Avenue of Remembrance needed completing but the 
Mausoleum had been completed and in use.

Page 28



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 5 MARCH 2018    
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 36

RESOLVED to note the reports.

105/GE BUDGET

The Committee received a nine-month budget monitoring report and 
Grounds and Environmental Services Earmarked Reserves Report for the 
period April – December 2017.  

RESOLVED to note the report.

106/GE FLAGPOLE

The Committee received a report to seek member endorsement to purchase 
and install a flagpole for Linslade Recreation Ground subject to successful 
Green Flag Award.

RECOMMEND that a maximum cost of up to £2,000.00 be allocated from 
budget heading 230 – Grounds and Environmental Services – 4110 – 
Grounds Maintenance for the purchase and installation of one flagpole 
should a successful Green Flag outcome be achieved.

107/GE LINSLADE RECREATION IMPROVEMENT

The Committee received a verbal update regarding the improvement to 
Linslade Recreation Ground.  The play area would be refurbished with a train 
theme and new street furniture installed and the Community Garden wall 
would be repointed and repaired to enhance the area.  Discussions were still 
on-going regarding the Fountain, the options would be a full refurbishment as 
a working fountain or as a drinking fountain. It was agreed the crowd funding 
principle would be further explored as a way of gaining community support. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

108/GE SPORTS AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVELOPMENT PLAN

The Committee received and considered a Sports and Physical Activity 
Development Plan.

RESOLVED to 

1.1 note the report
1.2 endorse and adopt the Sports & Activity Development Plan and the 

Action plan set out in the supporting appendices. 

109/GE EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act   
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 

Page 29



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 5 MARCH 2018    
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 37

from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding:

(i)   Waste Management and recycling 
(ii) Historic Cemetery charges

110/GE WASTE MANAGEMENT AND RECYCLING

The Committee received a report to update members on  waste management 
and recycling.

RESOLVED to –

1.1 note the report
1.2 endorse and recommend to the other Standing Committees that the 

contract is terminated and is not automataically renewed for a 
further 5 years

1.3 endorse that a competitive tendering exercise in respect of the 
Town Council’s waste management and recycling be carried out.

111/GE HISTORIC CEMETERY CHARGES

The Committee received a report to seek member endorsement in respect 
of creating a clear policy to remove the current uncertainty regarding 
previously reserved graves and non-residents fees for interments.

RESOLVED -

1.1 to note the report
1.2 that the fees and charges in Part 2 – Interments of the Town 

Council’s Fee and Charges be charged at resident fees for all 
reserved graves and that a refund be made to interment number 
12868.

1.3 to endorse that the 120 graves currently available to purchase in 
reserve at Vandyke Road Cemetery be sold on a first come first 
served basis and will be restricted to residents only and in 
accordance with 1.2 above all associated future costs to be at 
resident fees.

1.4 to endorse and the addendum attached to be signed by all who 
purchase and reserve graves in the Wodlands section at Vandyke 
Road Cemetery.

The meeting closed at 2035 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 5 MARCH 2018.

Page 30



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 5 MARCH 2018    
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 38

Chair                         4 JUNE 2018 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                      Page 35

  
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

CULTURAL AND ECONOMIC SERVICES COMMITTEE

MONDAY 12 MARCH 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present: Councillors: C Palmer (substituting for A Brandham)
C Chambers
S Cotter – in the Chair
D Bowater
G Perham
S Rahman
J M Freeman
F Kharawala

Also in attendance:  M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
V Cannon (Head of Cultural & Economic 
Services)
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic & Central 
Services)
B Bodsworth (Town and Community 
Promotions Manager) – part meeting
Tracey Quinn (TACTIC Manager) – part 
meeting
Cllr T Morris
G Borelli – Chair, LB First

                    Members of the public: 5
Members of the press:  1

083/CE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been received and were accepted from Councillor 
A Brandham, substituted by Councillor C Palmer. 

084/CE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.  No declarations were made and no dispensations had been 
requested. 

085/CE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

Four members of the public spoke during the public session. Three spoke in 
relation to the street market (agenda item 10). A statement was read out by 
a market trader representative stating that traders wanted a fair system for 
rents and that many did not agree with the proposed long service discount. 
This had been reflected in a petition submitted to the Council on 6 March. It 
was stated that communications were felt to be misleading due to some 
errors. 

Page 33



Cultural and Economic Services Committee 12 MARCH 2018      
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 36

A second speaker and market trader spoke to suggest that the Council should 
allow traders to form a co-operative and run the market themselves.

A member of the public and town centre retailer questioned the justification 
for use of Central Bedfordshire Council grant monies for the market relaunch 
project and whether there would be evidence to show the project had 
benefitted the market. It was noted that the retail sector was experiencing 
challenging times and that everyone wanted the market to succeed. 

A member of the public and representative of LB First spoke about the 
Christmas lighting contract, due to be reviewed later in 2018. A request was 
made to consider additional lighting for areas such as Ropa Court and North 
Street.

Members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting and for their 
comments. The 4 market traders then left the meeting

086/CE    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS

The Committee received the draft minutes of the previous Committee 
meeting held on 10 January 2018. 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Cultural and 
Economic Services Committee held on 10 January 2018 be approved as 
a correct record and were signed accordingly.

087/CE SUB-COMMITTEE AND TASK GROUP MINUTES

The Committee received the draft minutes of the Market Sub-Committee 
meeting held on 1 February 2018. 

Minute reference 097/MK: several recommendations made by the Market 
Sub-Committee were given consideration. 

RESOLVED to endorse the revised Market Cancellation Policy.

RESOLVED to endorse the minor amendments to the revised 
Community/Charity Pitch Policy.

RESOLVED to endorse the creation of a Community Tuesday Speciality 
Market to take place once per month. 

RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Market Sub-Committee 1 
February 2018.

088/CE TEENAGE ADVICE AND INFORMATION CENTRE

The Committee received an update report regarding TACTIC activity during 
December 2017 to January 2018, including the youth work programme, 
external hire of the Centre outside operating hours, satellite projects, 
agencies, individual support, staffing and attendance. 

Page 34



Cultural and Economic Services Committee 12 MARCH 2018      
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 37

It was noted that attendance had increased; this was felt to be because of a 
greater awareness within the wider community of the TACTIC offer but also a 
greater awareness of issues affecting young people, particularly mental health 
issues. 

The Committee was advised of concerns regarding the potential loss of 
funding for youth counselling services, despite a growing requirement for this 
service and increasing waiting lists. 

TACTIC staff and young people were thanked for their recent celebration 
event to note the 15th anniversary of the Centre. This had been well organised 
and the exhibition on the history of the building had drawn in a wider audience. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

089/CE COMMUNITY EVENTS

The Committee received a progress report on community events including the 
Outdoor Cinema Event at Mentmore Park in April, the annual Music in the 
Park concert programme, the Big Lunch Festival in June, the Linslade Canal 
Festival in July, Living History Day in October and the initial planning for the 
Christmas Festival. The potential for corporate sponsorship of events was 
discussed. 

It was noted that the Royal British Legion and other partners were leading on 
the events to commemorate the centenary of the end of World War 1 in 
November 2018, but that the Town Council would be leading on the beacon 
lighting part of the commemoration. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

090/CE    BEST BAR NONE UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update on the delivery of the Best Bar None 
Award Scheme, designed to improve standards within licensed premises. 
Having trained six assessors in January, assessments of the licensed 
premises were currently underway and would be followed by a People’s Vote 
in April. It was anticipated that an awards presentation would be held in June. 

The Committee was reminded that the Best Bar None Co-ordinator also 
facilitated the scheme in Dunstable and Houghton Regis, with a contribution 
being made by those town councils. Funding had been secured to extend the 
post until the end of March 2019, which would allow time for future 
arrangements to be given consideration. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

091/CE YOUTH PROMISE GRANT FUND

The Committee received a verbal update on the new grant scheme.  To date, 
four applications had been received. Additional information was being sought 

Page 35



Cultural and Economic Services Committee 12 MARCH 2018      
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 38

from all four applicants. The grant steering group would assess applications 
in advance of the next Committee meeting. 

The point was reiterated that clear measurable outcomes needed to be 
established prior to approval of any grant funding. 

RESOLVED to note the information. 

092/CE MARKET

The Committee received a report and was asked to consider the 
recommendations therein regarding proposed market pitch fees. 

The Committee was reminded that management of the street market was a 
discretionary service to the community and that as such, there was no legal 
requirement for consultation. However, in line with good practice, the Town 
Council had undertaken consultation over a period of time. 

The Committee was reminded that a previous fee structure had been agreed 
in 2017 but it had been agreed to defer implementation of any increases until 
1 April 2018 to allow time for traders to plan and budget accordingly. 

Ongoing discussions had taken place in respect of the agreed fee structure 
and the revised proposals were as a direct result of feedback given by traders 
and trader representatives. The fee for additional space beyond the maximum 
of three standard pitches had been reduced from £2.10 per square metre to 
£0.50 per square metre. In addition, it was recommended to award traders a 
long service discount on pitch fees. 

It was reiterated that no pitch fee changes had been implemented since the 
Town Council took over the running of the street market in 2012, but that the 
time had come to standardise fees and ensure a fair and transparent fee 
structure which would apply equally to every trader. 

Under the revised proposals, 8 out of 30 permanent traders would see no 
change in their pitch fee. 11 would see a reduced fee as a result of the long 
service discount, and 11 would see an increase, which would be implemented 
in a gradual process depending on the amount of the increase. Up to 24 
months would be allowed in order for rent equalisation to be achieved. 

Committee members expressed support for the proposals but recognised that 
the complexity might be difficult for some to clearly understand. Councillors 
asked that each trader be given clear, personalised communication as to the 
nature of their own fee and how the recommendations would affect these.

A query was raised regarding turnover of traders. It was noted that the market 
industry was one with frequent fluctuations and that it was a particularly 
challenging retail environment at present. This very fact had necessitated the 
market relaunch project, with every effort being made to ensure the market 
would change, grow and develop in order to survive into the future. 

On being proposed and seconded, the four recommendations being put to the 
Committee were agreed unanimously.

Page 36



Cultural and Economic Services Committee 12 MARCH 2018      
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 39

RESOLVED:

1.1 To endorse the proposal that Casual market traders pay £23 per pitch 
at 3m x 3m per pitch.

1.2 To endorse that additional square metre space taken above the 
standard maximum space of 27 square metres is charged at .50p per 
metre.

1.3 To endorse recognition of trader’s ‘long service’ for permanent 
traders by offering a whole pitch fee discount according to years 
served:
i. 5 years and over: 5% discount
ii. 10 years and over: 10% discount
iii. 15 years and over: 15% discount
iv. 20 years and over: 20% discount

1.4 To endorse an incremental approach for permanent traders to 
achieve the new pitch fee owed from 01/04/18 over a period of up to 
24 months based on the approach set out below:
i. Month one: pay current fee plus up to £4 (applied to all traders 

relevant to their individual circumstances.
ii. Month two onwards: traders with greater than £4 pitch fee 

increases will pay monthly incremental increases of 10% per 
month of the remaining difference.

iii. Month two onwards: traders with greater than 45% pitch fee 
increases will pay monthly incremental increases of 5% per 
month of the remaining difference, over a period of 24 months.

093/CE COMMITTEE WORK PLAN AND OBJECTIVES

The Committee received the Committee objectives and work plan for the 
current year, in accordance with the Town Council’s Three Year Plan, as well 
as a proposed plan for the forthcoming municipal year.

RESOLVED to note the Committee objectives and work plan for 2017-
2018 and for 2018-2019. 

094/GE BUDGET REPORTS

The Committee received a system generated budget report for the revenue 
budget and earmarked reserves, as well as an additional sheet outlining any 
committed expenditure and the amounts remaining available. 

RESOLVED:
i. To note the report.
ii. To carry forward unspent funds from the Community Access 

Defibrillator budget line 101/4554 into the earmarked reserve for 
this purpose (970/9022), to facilitate the ongoing costs of 
maintenance and kit replenishment.  

Page 37



Cultural and Economic Services Committee 12 MARCH 2018      
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 40

Following on from the earlier discussion regarding provision of services at 
TACTIC, it was proposed and seconded that any underspend within the 
TACTIC revenue budget (104) be carried forward into the TACTIC earmarked 
reserve (970/9020) and that authority be delegated to the Town Clerk to 
authorise expenditure of up to £6,000 for future service provision. This was 
agreed unanimously.

RESOLVED that any underspend within the TACTIC revenue budget 
(104) be carried forward into the TACTIC earmarked reserve (970/9022) 
and that authority be delegated to the Town Clerk to authorise 
expenditure of up to £6,000 for future service provision. 

095/CE MARKET TOWN REGENERATION FUNDED PROJECTS UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update on Market Town Regeneration Fund 
projects including the market relaunch, electronic signage and architectural 
lighting. An update was also given on the High Street Improvement Scheme. 

Some concern was expressed regarding project completion timescales but it 
was noted that many elements of the projects were outside of the control of 
the Town Council and dependent on other parties. 

RESOLVED to note the information. 

The meeting closed at 2123 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12 MARCH 2018.

Chair            11 JUNE 2018

Page 38



Page 136

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

16 APRIL 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present:  Councillors: R Berry
S Cotter
A Dodwell 
K Ferguson
J M Freeman
S Jones 
C Palmer
G Perham
F Kharawala
E Wallace – in the Chair

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central 
Services)
M Jahn (Committee Officer) 

Members of the public: 0

337/PF APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor K Cursons and 
Councillor S Cursons.

338/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. 

Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest in the budget monitoring 
items as a member of the Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom.

339/PF QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

There were no questions from members of the public. 

340/PF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Committee received the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 16 April 2018 for consideration.

Minute reference 330/PF Community Emergency Plan Update. A question 
was raised regarding progress of the plan.  It was noted that a meeting had 

Page 39



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 137

been arranged for Thursday 10 May at 7.30 pm at The White House where 
representatives from local groups and members of the public could attend. 
It was hoped that following that meeting, a small steering group could be 
formed to progress the Community Emergency Plan, which would be 
brought to committee later in the year. 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 16 April 2018 be approved as a correct record and 
signed accordingly. 

341/PF MINUTES OF SUB COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Committee received the draft minutes of the Personnel Sub-Committee 
meeting held on 26 March 2018. No questions were raised.

RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Personnel Sub-
Committee meeting held on 26 March 2018.

The Committee received the draft minutes of the Police Liaison Sub-
Committee meeting held on 9 April 2018. 

A question was raised regarding the potential re-naming of the Police 
Liaison Sub-Committee to more clearly encompass all elements of 
community safety, which had been briefly discussed at the meeting. 
Officers would give this further consideration in advance of the Annual 
Council Meeting in May. 

Councillor Dodwell proposed that as a result of receiving emails and many 
posts on social media, a public meeting be arranged with shopkeepers, 
residents and the police to discuss the level of anti-social behaviour and 
the response by the Police to these crimes.  Councillor Dodwell would liaise 
with the Town Clerk to organise this meeting with Police.

RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Police Liaison Sub-
Committee meeting held on 9 April 2018.

342/PF COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN

The Committee received the work plan for the municipal year 2017-2018 
for consideration and a proposed work plan for 2018-2019.  A verbal update 
was given on the progress of Mod.gov and it was anticipated the system 
would go live in June 2018.

RESOLVED to note the Committee Work Plan and Objectives for 2017-
2018 and 2018-2019. 

Page 40



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 138

343/PF CHRISTMAS FESTIVAL

The Committee considered and discussed the recommendation made by 
the Cultural & Economic Services Committee on 10 January 2018 (minute 
ref 071/CE).  Following the decision to continue with a three-day event, the 
recommendation had been made in order to ensure sufficient funding was 
available to provide an appropriate level of entertainment and stewarding 
for the weekend, given that anticipated income was always estimated and 
subject to many variable factors. 

RECOMMEND that £2000 be allocated from the Community Projects 
Earmarked Reserves to cover any shortfall in expected income for the 
Christmas Festival, to ensure the quality standard of the event would 
be maintained.

344/PF FEBRUARY  AND MARCH PAYMENTS 2018

The Committee received one set of schedule of payments which had 
previously been approved for payment by the Town Clerk and 
countersigned by two account signatories.          

The schedule for February dated 7 March 2018  included BACS payments 
amounting to £108,604.17  (page numbers 2292-2302) and cheque 
payments amounting to £14,177.08 (cheque numbers 17152-17163), 
including White House petty cash amounting to £113.22, Astral Park 
£174.65 and TACTIC £98.95.

The monthly salaries listing for February 2018 amounting to £91,886.52 
gross was received.  A cash book report for February 2018, including details 
of all direct debit payments, was also received.

The schedule for March dated 15 March 2018 included BACS payments 
amounting to £120,471.29 (page numbers 2303-2304 and 2308-2319) and 
cheque payments amounting to £26,378.78 (cheque numbers 17164-
17178), including White House petty cash amounting to £85.31, Astral Park 
£104.27 and TACTIC £36.06.

The monthly salaries listing for March 2018 amounting to £93,728.94 gross 
was received.  A cash book report for March 2018, including details of all 
direct debit payments, was also received.

RESOLVED to note the schedules of accounts for February 2018 and 
March 2018.

It was noted that all payments had been made within the budget and that 
there were no irregularities to be drawn to the attention of the Committee. 

Several minor queries were raised, to which a response would be provided 
after the meeting. 

Page 41



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 139

345/PF INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT (FIRST INTERIM)

The Committee received the first interim internal audit report for 2017-2018 
and noted that no issues had been identified. It was recognised that the 
Council was continuing to operate a sound, pro-active approach to risk 
management and corporate governance issues, together with the 
development and management of effective internal controls and procedural 
documentation. 

A question was raised on how frequently investments were reviewed and it 
was advised rates were checked on a six monthly basis. All 
recommendations in respect of investments were brought to Committee for 
decision.

RESOLVED to note the report.

346/PF BUDGET MONITORING REPORT

The Committee received a budget monitoring report for 1 April 2017 – 31 
March 2018.

A question was raised about expenditure at the Splash and Play and the 
repairs and maintenance at the Skate Park.  Clarification on this would be 
sought from the Head of Grounds and Environmental Services.

RESOLVED to receive the report.

347/PF     ARRANGEMENTS WITH LOCAL AUTHORITIES

The Committee received a report confirming arrangements with local 
authorities to consolidate processes and procedures to ensure operational 
efficiency.

A question was raised re 3.1 (a) Operation Dodford with Bedfordshire 
Police as to how many other Councils paid an equivalent amount for 
Community Policing and what they would expect from this service.  The 
Town Clerk advised this would be researched and brought back to 
Committee.

RESOLVED to note the report.
 

348/PF TOWN COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018

The Committee received the draft Town Council Annual Report 2017-2018.
This outlined the status of the Town Council’s objectives as set out in the 
Three Year Plan for 2015-2018 and summarised the work of each 
committee and service area during the year. This report would be available 
from The White House, the library and the Town Council website for the 

Page 42



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 140

public to view.  Thanks were given by the Committee for a thorough 
informative report.

It was noted that financial information would be finalised following 
completion of the year end accounts. 

RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the annual report for 2017-
2018, subject to any requested amendments and completion of the 
remaining information. 

349/PF     REVIEW OF FINANCE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEM OF INTERNAL 
      CONTROL

The Committee received and considered a report in respect of financial 
arrangements and the Town Council’s system of internal control. A full 
review of governing financial documents had been undertaken and a 
number of action points identified. These included the replacement of the 
existing “Financial Internal Control” document, adopted in 2011, with a 
more wide-ranging “Risk Management and Financial Control Statement”, 
which covered a number of elements of potential risk as well as financial 
procedures. 

The Committee received a number of recommended changes to existing 
Financial Regulations, to better reflect current operational practices. 

A question was raised regarding virements between budget lines.  It was 
clarified that smaller amounts were within existing thresholds for officer 
authorisation and that any proposed virements of larger amounts would be 
brought to the relevant Committee for consideration.

RESOLVED to:

1.1 note the report
1.2 endorse the draft document “Statement of Risk Management 

and Internal control” as a replacement for the existing 
document “Financial Internal Control (attached as Appendix 
B).

1.3 renew the existing resolution approving the continued use of 
Variable Direct debits, Standing Orders, BACS and CHAPS 
payments, as required by Financial Regulations 6.7 and 6.8.

1.4 renew the existing resolution delegating authority to the 
Town Clerk or vire unspent and available amounts to other 
budget headings or to an earmarked reserve, as per Financial 
Regulation  4.1.

1.5 appoint a named Councillor (other than the Chairman or a 
cheque signatory) to verify bank reconciliations on a 
quarterly basis as required in Financial Regulation 2.2.  (This 

Page 43



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 141

would be determined at the first meeting of the Committee 
following the Annual Council Meeting). 

RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the proposed minor 
amendments to Town Council Financial Regulations as outlined in 
Appendix A. 

350/PF ON-LINE PAYMENTS, BOOKINGS AND TICKETING

The Committee received and considered an update regarding online 
payments, bookings and ticketing for all Council services.  It was noted that 
E-ticketing had been trialled for the Mayor’s James Goff Concert and it 
would be envisaged this would be continued for other events in the future.

   RESOLVED to note the report. 

351/PF EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) 
Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential 
nature of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding the following items.

352/PF GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATION

The Committee received and considered a report regarding actions taken 
to date and actions remaining outstanding in respect of preparation for new 
legislation coming into effect on 25 May 2018. The Committee was advised 
that as a public body, a Data Protection Officer must be appointed and 
considered options in respect of this. 

It was noted that many of the remaining action items related to development 
or amendment of policies and it was anticipated that these would be brought 
to Committee for consideration in June 2018.

RESOLVED to

1.1 note the report, progress made to date and project plan for 
the remaining actions in respect of the General data 
Protection Regulation.

1.2 Appoint the Local Council Public Advisory Service as the 
Town Council’s Data Protection Officer for a period of one 
year, at a cost of £500 (to be funded from Professional Fees 
budget 20/4384).

As a result of discussion regarding best practice in terms of data protection, 
it was proposed and seconded that elected Members of the Town Council 

Page 44



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 142

should use an official Town Council email address via the council server for 
all official Town Council correspondence. 

RECOMMENDED to Council that it be mandatory for all elected Town 
Councillors to use an official Town Council email address for all Town 
Council official correspondence. 

353/PF   TOWN COUNCIL ACCOMMODATION

The Committee received a verbal update on the Town Council premises 
informing them that the appointed Estate Surveyor was still in negotiations 
with the Landlord, but it was felt that this was moving closer to an 
agreement.

RESOLVED to note the information.

354/PF COMMUNITY SAFETY (OPERATION DODFORD AND CCTV)

The Committee received a report on the re-deployable cameras and the 
future warranty arrangements regarding the two town-council owned re-
deployable cameras.  The Committee agreed that the high cost of renewing 
the warranty was not justified and if needed new equipment would be 
purchased.

RESOLVED -

1.1 To note the report
1.2 in the event that a re-deployable camera is found to be faulty:-

i) a quotation in respect of a repair be firstly sought and if 
considered reasonable, be carried out within existing 
budgets and if not:-

ii) that delegated authority be afforded to the Town Clerk in 
consultation with the Chair of the relevant Committee to 
seek the purchase of a replacement unit up to the value of 
£7,000.

The meeting closed at 2103 hours.   

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 APRIL 2018.

Chair   19 JUNE 2018.

Page 45



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 143

APPENDIX A

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO TOWN COUNCIL FINANCIAL REGULATIONS
APRIL 2018

Black type = current wording

Blue type = proposed wording

3.1Each committee (if any) shall review its three year forecast of revenue and 
capital receipts and payments. Having regard to the forecast, it shall thereafter 
formulate and submit proposals for the following financial year to the council 
not later than the end of November each year including any proposals for 
revising the forecast.

Each November, the Policy and Finance Committee will receive a three year 
forecast of revenue and capital receipts and payments for consideration. 
Thereafter, each standing Committee with budgetary responsibility will review 
draft budget proposals for the following financial year and make 
recommendations back to Policy and Finance, no later than January. At its 
January meeting, the Policy and Finance Committee will consider draft budget 
proposals and Committee recommendations and will consider recommending 
to Council approval of a draft budget.

6.3 All payments shall be effected by cheque or other instructions to the council's 
bankers, or otherwise, in accordance with a resolution of Council [or duly 
delegated Committee] 

6.4 Cheques or orders for payment drawn on the bank account in accordance 
with the schedule as presented to council or committee shall be signed by 
two members of council and countersigned by the Clerk, in accordance with 
a resolution instructing that payment. A member who is a bank signatory, 
having a connection by virtue of family or business relationships with the 
beneficiary of a payment, should not, under normal circumstances, be a 
signatory to the payment in question. 

Proposed: merge 6.3 and 6.4 together as 6.3, then add new 6.4 as per 
below:

Where delegated authority is granted to the Clerk or RFO by 
Council/Committee to authorise expenditure, all payments shall be effected in 
accordance with a schedule signed by both the Clerk/RFO and by two Elected 
Members who are bank signatories. 

Page 46



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 144

6.5To indicate agreement of the details shown on the cheque or order for 
payment with the counterfoil and the invoice or similar documentation, the 
signatories shall each also initial the cheque counterfoil.

To indicate agreement of the details shown on the cheque or order for 
payment with the counterfoil and the invoice or similar documentation, the 
signatories shall each also initial the cheque listing and BACS listing.

6.6Cheques or orders for payment shall not normally be presented for signature 
other than at a council or committee meeting (including immediately before or 
after such a meeting). Any signatures obtained away from such meetings shall 
be reported to the council [or duly delegated Committee] at the next 
convenient meeting. 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council does not meet monthly; nor does any 
standing Committee or Sub-Committee. Therefore, for operational purposes, 
cheques and orders for payment will normally be authorised and signed by the 
Town Clerk/RFO and two Elected Members who are bank signatories. All 
payments are reported to the next convenient meeting of Council or duly 
delegated Committee. 

6.10 Where a computer requires use of a personal identification number (PIN) or 
other password(s), for access to the council’s records on that computer, a note 
shall be made of the PIN and Passwords and shall be handed to and retained 
by the Chairman of Council in a sealed dated envelope.  This envelope may 
not be opened other than in the presence of two other councillors. After the 
envelope has been opened, in any circumstances, the PIN and/or passwords 
shall be changed as soon as practicable. The fact that the sealed envelope 
has been opened, in whatever circumstances, shall be reported to all 
members immediately and formally to the next available meeting of the 
council. This will not be required for a member’s personal computer used only 
for remote authorisation of bank payments.

Where a computer system is required to access the council’s financial records, 
the authorised users will undertake to ensure the security of any passwords, 
in accordance with the Town Council’s I.T. Security policy. 

6.16 Changes to account details for suppliers, which are used for internet 
banking may only be changed on written hard copy notification by the supplier 
and supported by hard copy authority for change signed by two of: the Clerk 
and any other authorised signatory. A programme of regular checks of 
standing data with suppliers will be followed.

Page 47



Policy and Finance Committee 16 APRIL 2018 
______________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                            Page 145

Changes to account details for suppliers, which are used for internet banking 
may only be changed on written hard copy notification by the supplier and 
checked by telephone by a member of the Finance team. 

Proposed addition to Contracts section (11):

11l) Where appropriate, the Town Council may choose to procure goods, 
materials or services through a “buying consortium” or “purchasing 
organisation”. This may be a public sector owned buying organisation such 
as ESPO. Procurement through a framework such as this may offer 
reduced costs and tendering times, achieving best value for money while 
ensuring compliance with relevant procurement legislation. 

17.2  When considering any new activity, the Clerk [with the RFO] shall prepare 
a draft risk assessment including risk management proposals for 
consideration and adoption by the council. 

Any new activity undertaken by the Council will be added to the Risk 
Register upon commencement or during the annual review of the Risk 
Register. 

Page 48



Agenda item 8(h)

Page 159

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 18 APRIL 2018 AT 1930 HOURS

Present:  Councillors J M Freeman
C Palmer – in the Chair
A Dodwell
S Cotter
D Perham
B Spurr
A Brandham

          Also in attendance:   M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)
S Sandiford (Head of Central and Democratic 
Services)

Members of the public:     7

344/P APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

No apologies for absence had been received. 

345/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.  No declarations were made although Councillor Palmer advised 
that at least one of the members of the public present was known to him on 
a personal basis. 

346/P PUBLIC QUESTIONS

Members of the public spoke in opposition to planning application reference 
CB/18/01001 (10 Copper Beech Way). Concerns were raised regarding 
proposed parking arrangements, access, construction traffic, safety of local 
school children using the locality as a “walking bus” route, provision of main 
services, sewerage, lack of consultation and inaccuracies in the application 
drawings. Moreover, it was felt that there had been no changes in planning 
guidance since the original application and therefore no basis for 
reconsidering the application. 

A member of the public and member of the local business community spoke 
in support of a recently submitted planning application to improve the 
appearance and convert part of a business premises on the outskirts of the 
town. It was noted that the application concerned had not yet been received 
by the Town Council and was therefore not on the application list for 
discussion at the meeting.

Members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting. 

Page 49



Planning and Transport Committee 18 APRIL 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 160

347/P MINUTES OF LAST MEETING

The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport 
Committee meeting held on 28 February 2018.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 28 February 2018 be approved as a correct record and 
were signed accordingly.

348/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS

(a) The Committee noted that the previous meeting scheduled for 21 March 
2018, had been cancelled as, under the Town Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation, all applications had been reviewed by officers and deemed to 
contain no areas of concern requiring committee review. The planning 
authority had therefore been advised that there were no objections to the 
listed applications.  

RESOLVED to note and endorse that no objections had been 
recommended to Central Bedfordshire Council In respect of the 
following applications:

1. CB/18/00607 71 CHELSEA GREEN, LINSLADE
2. CB/18/00493 28 GOLDFINCH ROAD
3. CB/18/0069 28 GRANGE CLOSE, LINSLADE
4. CB/1800352 9 CROXLEY COURT, MILLBANK
5. CB/18/00704 10 HARTWELL CRESECENT
6. CB/18/00676 GROVEBURY SERVICE STATION,

BILLINGTON ROAD.
7. CB/18/00738 12 POPLAR CLOSE
8. CB/18/00749 1 HEATH COURT
9. CB/18/00779/RM SOLUS (FORMERLY 

BORDERLANDS), 
HEATH PARK ROAD

10. CB/18/00758 9 WATERBOURNE WALK
11. CB/18/00841 NORTH HOUSE, 8A NORTH 

STREET
12. CB/18/00764 63 COTEFIELD DRIVE
13. CB/18/00817 LEIGHTON MIDDLE SCHOOL
14. CB/18/00873 9 AQUILA ROAD

RESOLVED to note the following applications for works to trees:

1. CB/TCA/18/00063 21 CHURCH ROAD, LINSLADE
2. CB/TRE/18/00064 1 ROBINSWOOD CLOSE & 5 

TAYLORS RIDE
3. CB/TCA/18/00071 36 SOUTHCOTT VILLAGE, LINSLAD
4. CB/TRE/18/00081 19 THE HEATH

Page 50



Planning and Transport Committee 18 APRIL 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 161

(b) The Committee reviewed applications received up until 13 April 2018. 
Copies of correspondence from residents received in respect of 
applications CB/18/01001 (10 Copper Beech Way) and CB/18/00830 
(Swan Hotel, 50 High Street) had been circulated to Committee members 
in advance of the meeting. 

RESOLVED to recommend that no objection be made to the 
following applications –

1. CB/18/00974 66 WATERDELL
2. CB/18/00972 35 SATURN CLOSE
3. CB/18/00959 7 SATURN CLOSE
4. CB/18/00832 69 NORTH STREET
5. CB/18/01059 15 LIME GROVE, LINSLADE
6. CB/18/01254/MW GROVEBURY QUARRY, 

GROVEBURY ROAD
7. CB/18/00888/ADV UNIT 2, LEIGHTON ROAD, 

LINSLADE
8. CB/18/01275/RM CHAMBERLAINS BARN QUARRY

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to planning application reference CB/18/00943 
(11B-29 Wing Road, Linslade) but to comment that the Town Council 
had concerns regarding the adequacy of car parking proposals and 
vehicular access and egress onto Wing Road. 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to planning application reference CB/18/00912 (15 
North Star Drive), as long as Central Bedfordshire car parking 
standards were met. 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to planning application reference CB/18/00830 
and CB/18/00831/LB (The Swan Hotel, 50 High Street) but to 
comment that it was hoped that measures would be taken to 
minimise potential noise disturbance to neighbouring residential 
properties. 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that 
objection be made to application reference CB/18/01001 (10 Copper 
Beech Way) on the following grounds:
- That no evidence of very special circumstances had been given to 
justify the proposed development on Green Belt land
- The proposal would have a detrimental impact upon the Area of 
Special Character
- The overbearing nature of the proposed development on adjoining 
residential properties
- That the proposal might not meet Central Bedfordshire parking 
standards
- Concerns regarding visibility, safety and practicality of proposed 
vehicular access
- Concerns regarding the visual impact on the landscape from the 
other side of the river and canal (Linslade)

Page 51



Planning and Transport Committee 18 APRIL 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 162

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that 
objection be made to planning application reference CB/18/00968 (55 
Clipstone Crescent) on the grounds of overdevelopment of the site 
which would be detrimental to the character and visual amenity of 
the neighbourhood.

RESOLVED to note the following applications for works to trees:

1. CB/TRE/18/00091 THE SQUIRRELS, HEATH PARK 
ROAD

2. CB/TRE/18/00101 THE SQUIRRELS, HEATH PARK 
ROAD

349/P TRANSPORT MATTERS

The Committee received correspondence from a local resident regarding 
concerns about parking in Doggett Street. It was agreed to forward this to Central 
Bedfordshire Council to take into account when undertaking their car parking 
study of the town. 

Concerns had also been raised by residents regarding traffic speeds and car 
parking in the vicinity of Greenleas Lower School on Derwent Road. It was 
agreed to draw this to the attention of Central Bedfordshire Council in respect of 
the safer routes to schools programme. 

Concerns regarding parking enforcement by the local authority were discussed 
and it was suggested that more regular enforcement be requested, particularly 
at key times such as school drop-off/collection times and evenings. It was noted 
that the local authority was hoping to recruit additional officers and suggested 
that in the first instance, a report of patrols/routes be requested for information. 

It was noted that the condition of local roads remained a concern and agreed to 
invite a representative from Highways to attend a meeting at the White House. 

It was noted that the Chair had recently attended a local meeting in respect of 
sustainable transport and also noted that a recent report had identified no issues 
with air quality in Leighton Buzzard and Linslade as a result of traffic.

350/P      INFORMATION ITEMS

The Committee received correspondence dated 29 March 2018 from Central 
Bedfordshire Council proposing the naming of new development on land rear of 
34-42 Vandyke Road as “Orca Mews”.  

RESOLVED that there be no objection to the proposed street naming of 
“Orca Mews”. 

 

Page 52



Planning and Transport Committee 18 APRIL 2018 
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                    Page 163

The meeting closed at 2050 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD 18 APRIL 2018.

Chair                          9 MAY 2018 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



1

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Annual Report
2017-2018

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



2

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Page 56



3

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Contents
1.0 Foreword by the Leader, Councillor Ewan Wallace 

2.0 Preface by the Town Clerk, Mark Saccoccio

3.0 Message from the Town Mayor, Councillor Syed Rahman

4.0 Introduction

5.0 The Council’s vision, mission statement and values

6.0 Town Council key objectives for 2015-2018

7.0 Grounds and Environmental Services  

8.0 Cultural and Economic Development Services

9.0 Corporate Governance and Finance Services

10.0 Planning and Transport 

Appendices
1 Budget Out-Turn 2017-18                 

2
3
4
5
6

List of Town Councillors at 31 March 2018
Councillor Representation to Outside Bodies 2017-18                                                               
Staff Structure at 31 March 2018 
Committee Structure at 31 March 2018
Corporate Objectives 2015-2018

                

Page 57



4

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

1.0 Foreword

The municipal year 2016-2017 has been a busy and exciting one for the 
Town Council. Following a successful bid for match funding from 
Central Bedfordshire Council’s Market Towns Regeneration Fund last 
year, we have seen a huge amount of work, effort, energy and 
collaboration lead to the initiation of some key projects for our town. 

Most of you will be aware that following a period of consultation with 
market traders and the public, a Market Relaunch took place last 
September. Recognising that our old market stall structures and covers 
were no longer fit for purpose in a changing market environment, we 
have followed the national trend with a move to using branded market 
gazebos and umbrella stands. Not only are these structures much 
easier to move, erect and dismantle, but they can be used more flexibly 
to display wares in different configurations. As part of the relaunch project, traders have been 
offered specialist retail training to help make best use of the new gazebos, which are provided and 
erected free of charge. 

I hope you will agree that the new look of the market enhances our historic town centre and makes 
the market look more attractive and interesting. The Town Council is committed to continuing to 
subsidise the provision of the street market as a key feature of our town and we will continue to 
closely monitor its performance. In addition to ongoing support for our existing traders, we will 
continue to actively seek new and additional traders for our market to enhance its offer and help 
bring shoppers into the town centre. 

Beyond the market, a very exciting initiative for me personally has been the launch of our Youth 
Promise grant scheme. As a Town Council, we are keen to ensure the provision of services and 
activities for our young people and we have therefore made available up to £150,000 of grant 
funding. Existing charity, voluntary and community groups may apply for funding of up to £30,000 
for projects and schemes which will allow them to widen their offer and engage more young people. 
The scope of projects could range from specialist training for leaders to the purchase of new 
equipment or for works to be undertaken to buildings or facilities. If you know of any group involved 
with young people aged 11-19, please do encourage them to apply for funding. We very much look 
forward to seeing the results of this scheme and the impact for our young people. 

In addition to the Youth Promise scheme, we continue to contribute grant funding to numerous 
voluntary, charity and community organisations in the parish via our Community Grants schemes 
and we value very highly the work they do to improve life in the town for so many. 

The Town Council provides these and many other services as efficiently as possible. As a result of 
prudent financial management and ongoing scrutiny, we have been able to ensure no increase to 
our proportion of the council tax for 2018-2019 – the sixth consecutive year of a zero increase to 
the taxpayer.  

 
Councillor Ewan Wallace
Leader, Leighton-Linslade Town Council

Page 58



5

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

2.0 Preface

It is with a deep sense of pride and satisfaction that we are able to 
present the parish with this year’s Annual Report. The report 
presents us with the opportunity to reflect and celebrate the 
achievements that the Town Council has made in the service of this 
great parish over the past 12 months. As a publicly accountable 
body, decision making powers rest with the 21 democratically 
elected members who as unpaid volunteers, give up their time in the 
service of their community. Without their support through the 
various committees they sit on, many of the projects and initiatives 
that we can rightly boast about may not have been delivered in such 
a timely fashion or indeed at all. 

As we look forward, one of our objectives for the coming 12 months is to consider ways we can 
better engage with our community. It is disappointing that so few members of the public attended 
the recently held Annual Parish Meeting. The evening which was held at Astral Park provided the 
opportunity for you as parishioners to attend and ask questions of the council on matters 
concerning the way we deliver our services. Next year, we are proposing a town centre venue as 
well as holding the evening in late spring when the days are warmer and lighter. In addition, we are 
looking to embrace technology through a live web cast that will allow the virtual audience to stream 
questions to the council as the meeting progresses. 

As a Town Council, we are always striving to make improvements and we welcome your thoughts, 
comments and feedback on what we do. To keep in touch, please do sign up to our bi-monthly 
newsletter as well as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and the Town Council App. They provide the 
platforms to engage with us as well as receive up to date information. Last but not least, we hope 
that over the coming months, 3 electronic signage boards will be installed within the parish 
providing commuters and pedestrians alike with information regarding matters of local interest. 

If you would like to ask any questions or comment on the Annual Report or the Town Council’s 
Three Year Plan and Objectives for 2015-18, please do not hesitate to contact us by one of the 
following means:

 
By telephone: 01525 631920
 
By email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 
 
In person or by letter:
 
Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council
The White House
Hockliffe Street
Leighton Buzzard
Bedfordshire
LU7 1HD

Page 59



6

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

3.0 Message from the Town Mayor

After serving as a member of the Town Council for several years, I 
have been honoured this year to serve as Chairman of the Council 
and Town Mayor. Undertaking the role of Mayor is a humbling 
experience and I have been fortunate to meet so many wonderful 
people throughout the year. I would like to pass on grateful thanks 
from everyone at the Council to the many volunteers who give their 
time, effort and energies so tirelessly to help people within our 
community. 

In addition to attending many local events and representing the 
town at civic events elsewhere, I have held several events to raise 
funds for this year’s chosen charities:

Leighton-Linslade Homeless Service
Aquarius
Autism Bedfordshire
Keech Hospice
St John’s Hospice

I would like to thank everyone who has helped organise and support these events, which have 
ranged from concerts to coffee mornings to bucket collections, not to mention the Spring Fayre at 
Astral Park and the annual Charity Ball in October.  Without the support of those attending, we 
would not have been able to raise the funds we did for this year’s charities. I would also particularly 
like to thank the MK Dons for providing the opportunity to raise funds at a football match in March 
of this year. 

Your Town Councillors are now entering the fourth and final year of their current term of office, 
with local elections due to be held in May 2019. Have you ever thought of standing for the Town 
Council? If you live or work within three miles of the parish and meet the criteria, you might like to 
consider standing as a voluntary Town Councillor. The role is unpaid but provides a wonderful 
opportunity to make a real difference to your town.  If you would like to find out more, please do 
contact one of the current Councillors or the Town Clerk. 

Councillor Syed Rahman
Town Mayor 2017-2018
Leighton-Linslade Town Council

Page 60



7

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

4.0 Introduction

Leighton-Linslade is the largest town in the administrative area of Central Bedfordshire Council.  
Historically, Leighton Buzzard has always been within Bedfordshire, with the area of Linslade 
transferring from Buckinghamshire in 1965.  The parish had an estimated population of just under 
40,000 at the last census in 2011 and this continues to grow as further housing development takes 
place to the south and east of the town.

The unemployment rate in Leighton-Linslade is on a par with the rate in Central Bedfordshire and 
lower than the England average. Ideally placed within an hour of London, the town is an ideal 
location for commuters and a significant proportion of those living in the parish work outside it. 
 
The parish contains a number of ancient buildings including All Saints Church and the Market Cross 
monument. Surrounded by quarries, the town is famous for its high quality sand.  The Narrow Gauge 
Railway and the Grand Union Canal remain reminders of the industrial links of the past and the key 
strategic location of the town. Leighton Buzzard has held a market with Charter status since circa 
1086 and this continues to be held every Tuesday and Saturday in the heart of our town, under the 
management of the Town Council.

Leighton-Linslade Town Council came into existence on 1 April 1974 with the powers of a parish 
council and is responsible for the following areas:
 
· Parks, play areas, pavilions and open spaces
· Markets
· Allotments at Weston Avenue and Alwins Field
· Cemeteries at Vandyke Road and Old Linslade Road
· Community events and Christmas illuminations
· Teenage Advice and Information Centre (TACTIC)
· Public conveniences (West Street car park and Parson’s Close Recreation Ground)
· Publications e.g. About Town newsletter, annual What’s On leaflet, Three Year Plan
· Providing grants to local charitable and voluntary groups

Page 61



8

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

The Council comprises 21 elected Councillors who each serve a four-year term of office. 
There are eight electoral wards in the Parish: 
 
Barnabas (3 Councillors) Brooklands (2 Councillors)
Grovebury (4 Councillors) Leston (1 Councillor)
Planets (2 Councillors) Plantation (3 Councillors)
Southcott (4 Councillors) St Georges (2 Councillors).
 
A Town Council election was held in May 2015 and a new Council duly elected for a four-year term 
of office.  Town Councillors are not paid any expenses or allowances, apart from the Town Mayor, 
who receives a relatively small allowance, and who attends many events throughout the region to 
represent the town.  The Town Mayor also organises a number of events throughout the year to 
raise funds for charity.
 
Following a review of the Committee structure during 2015-16, the Council currently has five 
Standing Committees:
 
Grounds and Environmental Services
Cultural and Economic Services
Planning and Transport
Policy and Finance
Partnership (with Central Bedfordshire Council)
 
Council, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings are open to the public, unless there is a special 
reason for exclusion. Up to a total of fifteen minutes is allowed for representations from members 
of the public, who may ask questions or make statements relating to items on the meeting agenda.
 
The Town Council currently employs a team of 42 staff (25 full-time, 17 part-time) led by the Town 
Clerk, Mark Saccoccio. The Council is entirely funded by the residents of Leighton-Linslade through 
what is known as a precept on the council tax charge, and by generating income through services 
delivered. 

 

Page 62



9

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

5.0  The Town Council Vision, Mission and Aims

VISION
 
“A community to be proud of”.
 
MISSION
 
To achieve high quality services and promote wellbeing for our community.
 
AIMS
 
▪ To consolidate processes and procedures to ensure operational efficiency and a
structure which will underpin future service delivery by the Town Council.

▪ To promote and develop a vibrant town through partnership working and  
initiatives including management of the street market, provision of town and 
community promotions, town centre enhancements, tourism and practical support
for local businesses.

▪ To provide great public open spaces, varied opportunities for sport and leisure
and to exceed expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services.

6.0 Town Council Priorities and Objectives for 2015 – 2018

In the last six months of the municipal year 2014-2015, the Town Council began to develop a corporate 
plan for the next three years, identifying a number of key objectives across all service areas. The Town 
Council’s Three Year Plan was endorsed and published by the end of April 2015 and was revised during 
2016. The updates include an analysis of progress made to date, as well as incorporating a number of 
initiatives contained within the Big Plan II (the Parish Plan adopted in 2011 for the period 2011-2017). 

In Appendix 6 you can find details of the Three Year Plan objectives and progress made during the last 
municipal year. 

As we enter the final year of the current plan, we will be starting to formulate projects and objectives 
for the next three year period (2018-2021). 

Page 63



10

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

7.0 Grounds and Environmental Services

The services provided by the Grounds and Environmental Services team are reported to the Grounds 
and Environmental Services Committee, which comprises eight Town Councillors and meets four times 
per year.  The Committee approves and monitors budget expenditure throughout the year. A team of 
fifteen staff members performs these functions, including three based at Astral Park and ten 
Groundsmen who work in the parks, open spaces and cemeteries. 

£202,665

£95,838

£42,450

£11,447
£7,500£31,135

£480,815

Parks & Pavilions Cemeteries Play areas In Bloom Sports Depot Grounds Services

Grounds & Environmental Services: Budgeted Expenditure

£116,500

£59,000

£1,000 [VALUE]

Parks & Pavilions Cemeteries Sports Allotments

Grounds & Environmental Services: Budgeted Income

Page 64



11

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

A huge amount of work has been undertaken by the Grounds and Environmental Services team 
throughout 2017-2018, with a significant number of new initiatives undertaken alongside the ongoing 
demands of maintaining high quality parks, open spaces, cemeteries and allotment sites.  Outlined 
below are just some of the activities and projects which have been undertaken during the year. 

Parks and Open Spaces

In many ways Parson’s Close is our “flagship” park, a destination in itself 
in the heart of our parish. Following on from several years of investment 
and ongoing improvements, we were delighted in 2017 to receive a 
tripadvisor certificate of excellence.  During 2017 we installed electronic 
people counters in the park in order to assess the number of visitors. 
Understanding our visitor numbers and seasonal variations will help us to 
make further improvements to the offer within the park in future. A future 
project will also see us replacing the wooden balustrades of the historic bandstand with bespoke 
metal balustrades. 

Mentmore Park junior 
play area underwent 
refurbishment this year 
and was well received. 
In addition, several key 
items of play equipment 
were replaced at the 
Vimy Road play area and 
the Adams Bottom play 
area. The park at Adams 
Bottom was further 
enhanced by the 
addition of a new 
pathway across the park. 

At the time of writing, plans are well underway for improvements to the much loved Linslade 
Recreation Ground. In addition to refurbishment of the play area, introduction of new equipment and 
repairs to the boundary wall, it is hoped that we will be able to repair the Henry Finch Memorial 
Fountain and recreate it into a working fountain and a key attraction within the park. 

Green Flag awards 

From achieving one award in 2015, the Town Council went on to achieve three prestigious Green Flag 
Awards in 2016.  

Pages Park, Parson’s Close Recreation Ground and Vandyke 
Road Cemetery retained their prestigious Green Flag Awards in 
2017 – the mark of a quality park or green space. A Green Flag 
flying overhead is a sign to the public that the space boasts the 
highest possible standards, is beautifully maintained and has 
excellent facilities.

Page 65



12

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Cemetery Services

2017 saw the delivery of a project planned for over ten years: the 
construction of a mausoleum in Vandyke Road Cemetery.  The 
project was entirely cost neutral and now provides another option 
in our range of available cemetery services, meeting a clear 
requirement from the community. 
The Town Council is committed to 
ongoing improvements to the 
cemetery service and it remains the 
intention to enhance the offer of 
memorial options. 

Following the introduction of new 
benches into Mentmore Memorial 

Gardens last year, the commemoration of the centenary of World War 1 
continued this year with new interpretation signage following the same 
theme. 

“In Bloom” and Community Participation 

Leighton-Linslade was the most successful entrant for the Anglia region into this year’s Royal 
Horticultural Society Britain in Bloom awards, with a total of nine Golds awarded and an overall 

category winner, with Old Linslade Cemetery winning the “best small cemetery” 
award.  With the support of the Town Council grounds staff, the Friends of 
Leighton-Linslade in Bloom have undertaken numerous projects to the benefit of 
the town, including the drought garden in West Street, the beautiful Community 
Garden in Pages Park and many other schemes and initiatives. The group has also 
sought involvement from residents with litter picks, competitions and plant stalls, 
as well as the annual Open Gardens event. 

Linslade Community Garden

The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom, working with the Town 
Council, applied for and were successful in achieving a grant for 
£10,000 through the Tesco Bags for Help scheme. This followed a 
public vote in local Tesco stores from 26th September 2016 to 9th 
October 2016. Bags of Help sees money raised by customers 
through the 5p bag charge going directly back into the local 
community. 

This grant funding will be put towards the creation of a community 
garden within Linslade Recreation Ground,  by the pedestrian 
entrance by St Barnabas Church.

Page 66



13

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Astral Park

During 2017-2018 Astral Park has 
hosted an array of activities run by 
external providers for the local 
community, as well as being used by 
voluntary and community groups. 
Activities have included play schemes, 
football coaching, holiday sessions, 
baby weighing clinics, baby massage 
and numerous fitness and activity 
sessions for both adults and children. 
Business bookings have included return 
to work training, IT skills and interview skills training sessions, local authority meetings and public 
consultation meetings. The Centre continues to be well used for private functions and has proven to 
be a popular venue for birthday celebrations for all ages. 

The Centre is licensed for wedding ceremonies and in February 2018, our 
first wedding fayre took place, with a host of local suppliers on site to offer 
their advice. The event aimed to showcase the flexibility of the venue and 
the new landscaping which has been undertaken this year. More 
information on weddings is available on the new dedicated website: 
www.astralpark.co.uk 

The Town Mayor has been delighted to host several fundraising events 
this year at Astral Park, including an Afternoon Tea, a Spring Fayre and a 
Bingo Night.   

Building on the success of Astral Park as a hub for junior football, this year 
has seen the introduction of adult football fixtures at weekends. While 
further improvements are needed to ensure adequate drainage on the 
adult pitches, the season has gone well and positive feedback has been 
received from local teams. In recognition of the increased usage, the car 
park was extended in 2017. 

A fantastic development for Astral Park this year was the inclusion of the Centre on the bus route for 
the D1 “Dash Direct” bus. Real-time bus information is available at the bus halt and inclusion on this 
route makes the centre – and indeed the park – more available to users

Future projects

Moving forward, the Town Council will continue to aspire to maximise income 
to support the running of the Centre, while ensuring a careful balance with 
community use. In this way the future operating costs of the Centre will be 
sustainable.  Currently the Centre is popular with hirers for private functions 
such as parties, celebrations and weddings. 

   

Page 67

http://www.astralpark.co.uk/


14

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

8.0 Cultural & Economic Services and Partnership

Overview

The services provided within the Cultural and Economic Services and Partnership functions are 
reported to the Cultural and Economic Services Committee, which meets four times per year, and to 
the Partnership Committee, which meets five times per year.  The Committees approve and monitor 
budget expenditure throughout the year. A team of sixteen staff members performs these functions, 
including six at the TACTIC Centre and six involved in the running of the street market. Events 
management is outsourced to a contractor. 

18%

46%

27%

8%
1%

Market Community Projects Teenage Advice Centre
Public Conveniences Partnership Projects

Cultural & Economic Services: Budgeted Expenditure

£10,100

£119,600

Community Projects Market

Budgeted Income

Page 68



15

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Street Market  

The twice weekly street market, managed by 
the Town Council, has continued to serve the 
town and its visitors during 2017-2018 
despite changing trends in High Street 
shopping and the impact of web based 
buying. Traders offer a broad range of 
products for sale each Tuesday and Saturday, 
boosted by monthly speciality markets such 
as the Farmer’s Market and a monthly 
“Handmade and Crafts” market. 

A number of additional initiatives took place throughout the year, including 
theme market days, additional street entertainment, a visiting French market 
and participation in the International Love Your Local Market Campaign.  British 
Food Fortnight celebrated all things great about British Food.

In 2016-2017, the Town Council was successful in bidding for match funding from Central Bedfordshire 
Council for a number of projects, through the Market Towns Regeneration Fund.  This included a 
Market Relaunch project, intended to help ensure the future viability of the market at a time when 
many markets nationally are re-inventing themselves. Specialist consultants were contracted to 
undertake a thorough assessment of the market, including feedback from traders, customers and town 
centre retailers. In September 2017 a number of changes were introduced, including a move from 
traditional style stalls to the use of branded gazebos, provided to traders at no additional cost. To add 
a distinctive look and feel to the speciality markets, new canopy umbrellas were purchased.

Another part of the relaunch project was the development of 
a specific website for the Market and new branding for market 
communications. This will not only help provide information 
to potential customers but also to potential new traders. We 
continue to actively seek to attract new traders to our market, 
offering competitive pricing and a town centre which 
continues to thrive, bucking the national trend. 

The Town Council offers a bursary and support to anyone wishing to give the market a try. If you 
already run a business and would like to try a new approach to sell your product or service, contact us 
about our monthly “pop up” market. 

Page 69



16

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

TACTIC (Teenage Advice Centre, Teenage Information Centre)

Leighton-Linslade is the only parish within Central 
Bedfordshire to fund a specialist teenage advice and 
information centre. Staffed by professional workers, it is 
available to local young people every Monday to Friday 

afternoon and evening. The centre plays host to a number of support and advice services for young 
people whilst also leading on advisory services of its own. One regular feature of the TACTIC 
programme is the Wednesday Work Club, available to 16-21 year olds who need advice and 
information for work or college or training opportunities. TACTIC staff support with:  CV writing -  Job 
Search & Job applications - Exploring your career direction - Interview Techniques - Apprenticeships & 
College applications.

The young people at TACTIC have taken part in 
all sorts of initiatives this year, ranging from 
entering a float in the 2017 Carnival to holding 
a Christmas lunch for senior citizens and a 
shoebox appeal for the homeless in December. 

The Centre continues to work with other agencies and partners 
to ensure a joined-up approach and a range of services for 
young people. In 2017, this has included a new offer to local 
schools, whereby TACTIC staff go in to Middle or Upper schools 
to deliver themed workshops. TACTIC has also offered school 
holiday activities for 12-19 year olds as well as holiday 
playschemes for 8-11 year olds during the year.  

TACTIC is housed in a very old building in Hockliffe Street and 
further to an approach for grant funding made by the Leighton 
Buzzard and District Historical and Archaeological Society, 

research was done this year into exactly how old the building is.  In conjunction with the Society, 
TACTIC held an open day on 10 February to celebrate its 15th year of operation and to demonstrate to 
the public the findings about the ancient Tudor building. 

With its central location, easily accessible by public 
transport, the TACTIC building has been identified as a 
community asset which could be more widely used, 
when sessions for young people are not taking place. 
With this in mind, a fixed term post was created to 
promote greater use of the Centre during the daytime, 
particularly mornings. This has proven successful with a 
number of local charity and voluntary organisations now 
benefitting from the Centre’s key location and facilities. 

Page 70



17

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Town and Community Promotions 

The Town Council continues to build on its successful and varied programme of community events, 
which prove to be enduringly popular with our local community, as well as attracting visitors from far 
afield.  

Linslade Canal Festival, held on the final Saturday of July each year, maintains a good 
reputation, bringing thousands to see the rural crafts and narrow boats located at 
Tiddenfoot Waterside Park. The event requires many months of preparation and 
planning. To assist with this, a five year plan was established during 2015 and this will 
inform the future of the festival. 

The Big Lunch event on the first Sunday in June was themed for the third year as a Food 
Festival and was again very well received, with an estimated attendance of over 4,500 
people.  In 2017 the Festival coincided with the opening of the summer “Music in the Park” 
programme, which remains as popular as ever. 

Concerts take place every Sunday afternoon during the 
season.  The evening concert “Proms and Picnic in the Park” 
during August was more popular than ever, with many 
residents bringing the whole family to enjoy an evening 
picnic and some enthusiastic flag-waving. A second evening 
concert on the theme of Town Twinning was a new initiative 
this year. 

In October, the Living History event took place, 
with a Medieval theme centered around the town’s 
ancient market. The variety of stalls, demonstrators 
and activities on offer proved very popular with 
visitors to the town centre. 
  

Children’s Trail  

The Children’s Trail celebrated its fifth birthday in 2017 and continues to prove enduringly popular 
with both residents and visitors to the town. This exciting trail of public art in the town centre is 
enchanting for all ages.  Free maps and guides can be collected at the Library or the White House, or 
downloaded from the Town Council website. A video has been developed to help promote the Trail 
and this can be viewed on the Town Council’s YouTube channel.  

Movies for the More Mature continues our collaboration with Central Bedfordshire Council’s Leighton 
Library Theatre in supporting affordable access to film screenings for our older residents. This is 
enduringly popular, with membership continually on the increase. A further new initiative during 2017 
was the introduction of Dementia-Friendly screenings

Page 71



18

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Partnership Working

Another project which was approved for match 
funding through the Central Bedfordshire Market 
Towns Regeneration Fund was the provision of 
electronic signage boards for promotional and 
information purposes. Despite complications in 
arranging for power and connectivity, it is hoped 
that three signs will be established at key locations 
by the Spring of 2018. The third project to be 
funded by the grant was the introduction of architectural lighting in the town centre, enhancing some 
of our beautiful buildings and helping to make the town centre a more attractive destination after 
dark.  A the time of writing, we are in the final stages of agreeing the lighting scheme. 

The annual Christmas Festival weekend 
took place at the beginning of December 
2017, organised by the Town Council in 
partnership with LB First, drawing huge 
crowds into the town centre to count 
down to the switching on of the festive 
lights.  The format of the Christmas 
Festival was thoroughly reviewed during 
2017 and the conclusion was reached that 
the Festival be maintained in its three-day 
format into the future.  

For the second year running the Christmas Lighting Scheme was supported by the Leighton-Linslade 
Rotary Club who funded the High Street Christmas Tree lights. In 2018, the Town Council will be 
reviewing the festive lighting contract and appointing a supplier for the next three year term. 

Best Bar None  

2017-2018 has seen us continue to build on last year’s success with the Best 
Bar None scheme, an initiative already in place in neighbouring towns and 
aimed at improving safety in our licensed premises.  With joint funding from 
Dunstable and Houghton Regis Town Councils and in partnership with 
stakeholders including Bedfordshire Police and Central Bedfordshire Council, 
we are working with licensees to improve safety. At the time of writing, 
premises are undergoing assessment and we look forward to the public taking 
part and voting for their favourite haunts. 

The annual Business Networking event took place on 26 April 2017 with input from partners including 
The Federation of Small Business (FSB), LB Connect and Central Bedfordshire Council. 

Page 72



19

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

9.0 Democratic Services, Central Services and Finance

Overview

The services provided within the Democratic Services, Central Services and Finance functions are 
reported to the Policy and Finance Committee, which comprises twelve Town Councillors and meets 
seven times per year.  The Committee approves and monitors budget expenditure throughout the 
year. A team of seven staff members performs these functions, headed by the Town Clerk. 

21%

8%

6%

5%

1%

43%

9%

7%

Capital Projects Democratic Representation Grants & Donations Community Safety

Highways Schemes Central Administration White House Loan Repayments

Policy & Finance Committee: budgeted expenditure

Town Mayor

Councillor Syed Rahman was elected Chairman of the Town Council (Town 
Mayor) in May 2017 and was delighted to announce that during his Mayoral 
year he would be supporting five chosen charities: Leighton-Linslade 
Homeless Service, Keech Hospice, St John’s Hospice, Aquarius and Autism 
Bedfordshire. 

A number of successful fundraising events have taken place during the year, 
including an afternoon tea, coffee morning, charity ball, two concerts, a 
Spring Fayre and a bingo evening. Additional fund-raising activities have 
included bucket collections, sponsorship and donations.  

Page 73



20

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Councillor Rahman will be distributing cheques to his chosen charities at the Town Council’s Annual 
Meeting in May 2018. 

In addition to charity fundraising events, the Mayor hosted the annual Civic Service at All Saints Church 
and visited the twin towns of Titisee-Neustadt in Germany and Coulommiers in France.  He also 
attended numerous events of all kinds within the parish, meeting and engaging with residents of all 
ages.  

The Mayor is invited to attend numerous events throughout the municipal year, both in the Town and 
outside the Parish.  These include opening events or facilities, marking celebrations, giving talks, 
presenting cheques or awards and representing the town at events being held by neighbouring 
Mayors. 

Community Awards

The Town Council recognises the many invaluable volunteers who give 
their time and energy to benefit residents of the town.  The Honorary 
Burgess scheme recognises exceptional people who have volunteered 
for the town for at least seven years. The three recipients of the 2018 
Honorary Burgess award were Margaret J Brown, Michael Rowland and 
Danielle Harding, nominated for their many and varied voluntary 
contributions to the town, enhancing the lives of many residents. 

If you know someone who is deserving of this prestigious award, please 
visit the Town Council’s website for a nomination form. Nominations are 
accepted between June and October each year. 

Page 74



21

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Community Grants

Many residents will be familiar with the two Community Grant schemes 
run by the Town Council.  Grants of up to £500 per year are available 
for specific projects to benefit residents of the town (“General Grants”), 
while organisations seeking greater funding may apply for a 
“Guaranteed Grant” for a four-year period. A number of organisations 
received funding during 2017-2018 for a whole range of projects 
benefitting residents of all ages within our community. 

In addition to these schemes, the Town Council supports the Citizens 
Advice Bureau and the Leighton-Linslade Music Centre, both of which 
benefit residents of all ages.  Tabitha Park, new General Manager at the 
Leighton Buzzard Citizens Advice centre, said “Citizens Advice Leighton 
Linslade gratefully acknowledges LLTC’s generous grant which makes a 
substantial contribution towards the running costs of our advice 

service, serving the people of Leighton Linslade and the surrounding area.  We see over 3,000 clients 
a year and over the past year advised on more than 9000 issues, ranging from benefits and debt to 
consumer and employment.  The majority of the advice is delivered by our 45 adviser team of 
volunteers, supported by a small team of paid staff.  We also offer a specialist debt advice service for 
the most complex or  vulnerable clients”.

Communications

The Town Council continues to work towards improving its 
communications with residents. This year has seen a continual increase in 
the number of people following our social media channels, particularly on 
Facebook and Twitter. These forums can be invaluable for communicating 
information quickly and effectively.  During 2017 we also started to engage 
with the public via Instagram and launched a bespoke App, which can be 
downloaded free of charge.  
For those residents who prefer a paper format, we continue to publish the bi-monthly About Town 
newsletter which is available in print in many local outlets, or online via email sign-up. 

During 2017, the Town Council developed and launched two new add-on websites to enhance the 
existing main Town Council website and the TACTIC website: one for the Market and one for Astral 
Park. These websites provide a quick and easy reference point for key information and contact details. 
Looking to the future, the Town Council will be reviewing its main website during 2018 with a view to 
creating a development plan for 2019 and onwards. 

Policing

With Bedfordshire Police facing ever increasing challenges, the topic of policing has been an ongoing 
priority during 2017-2018.  The Town Council recognises the concerns of residents and continues to 
set aside a specific budget for community safety and additional policing activity in the town.  Funds 
have been used during 2017-2018 to pay for market day patrols, additional patrols of the town’s parks, 
specific targeted activity as issues arise and to ensure police presence in the town on Friday and 
Saturday evenings. Police activity is monitored through a quarterly meeting of the Police Liaison Sub-
Committee. 

Page 75



22

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Following on from the purchase of two re-deployable 
CCTV cameras last year, 2017 saw the Town Council 
investing in new equipment for use by the “Speed 
Watch” volunteers. These dedicated volunteers, many 
of whom are also involved in the neighbourhood 
“Street Watch” scheme, monitor vehicle speeds in the 
parish and highlight areas of concern. One positive 

outcome of this activity was the introduction of a speed monitoring sign on Mentmore Road in late 
2017 – an initiative particularly welcome given the proximity of schools in that area. 

Finance

The Town Council continues to operate on a “best value” basis and 
has stringent policies and procedures in place to ensure we 
achieve best value for money in delivering services to the 
community.  Investing in new equipment this year will enable us 
to deliver more efficiently. 

During 2017-2018, the Town Council continued to review its five year financial plan.   Councillors and 
officers reviewed a number of proposed future projects and aspirations in order to develop the plan, 
which will prove invaluable for budget setting and identifying town priority projects.  The plan will be 
monitored by committee on an ongoing basis. 

Looking to the future, the Town Council aspires to undertake longer term planning to ensure that 
services can continue to be delivered on a sustainable basis in the years to come. 

Audit

The Town Council has stringent procedures in place to ensure that 
legislative and best practice requirements are established and 
followed.  This includes the appointment of both an internal auditor 
and an external auditor.  During 2017-2018 the Town Council has 
undertaken a full review of its financial systems of internal control, 
including its Financial Regulations.  A large scale project has also taken 
place to ensure compliance with the new General Data Protection 
Regulation. 

 
Continuous Improvement

The Town Council strives for continuous improvement and to ensure best practice and best value for 
money for the parish.  Following the creation of its Three Year Plan and Objectives, the Town Council 
has completed a number of key initiatives and made significant progress with many others, across a 
range of service areas.  This resulted in a Quality Gold accreditation in 2017. 

Not content with that, the Town Council has continued to seek further efficiencies and 
improvements, in particular by way of significant investment into technology.  This investment will 
ensure that services can be run effectively, across several sites. 

Page 76

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwih28axosvZAhUEesAKHShRBZ8QjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://prepsmarter.com/blog/top-finance-certifications-for-a-professional/&psig=AOvVaw3c4iiykIOaHWRyReX0Q8tK&ust=1519998645568783
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiR66_bocvZAhVBvBQKHbGYCBwQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://www.kingssutton.org/about-kings-sutton/parish-council/community-speed-watch-kings-sutton/&psig=AOvVaw3U6K8bc4uuLsE1mJWWOQNG&ust=1519998470261253
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjbt4GXosvZAhXCesAKHZNcBTkQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://career.guru99.com/top-10-internal-audit-interview-questions/&psig=AOvVaw1S3Ogb6lXAstfEGT2pNa08&ust=1519998531025576


23

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

10.0 Planning and Transport

Planning

While decision making responsibility rests with the local planning 
authority, Central Bedfordshire Council, the Town Council is involved in 
local planning applications as a consultee in the planning process.  All 
applications for development or change of land use within the parish are 
sent to the Town Council for review by officers. Depending upon the scale 
and nature of the proposals, a number of applications are then given 
consideration by the Planning and Transport Committee, which meets 
once every three weeks. All meetings are open to the public. 

The Planning and Transport Committee carefully reviews applications and in particular will consider 
whether any comments have been submitted by neighbours, whether there are any potential issues 
in terms of the conservation area or maintaining the visual amenity of the street scene, or whether 
there is any loss of car parking which might be detrimental to the area or exacerbate any existing 
parking issues. 

During the municipal year 2017-2018, the Committee reviewed a large number of planning 
applications and submitted responses, comments and objections to the planning authority. On 
occasion, representatives of the Committee have attended meetings of the Central Bedfordshire 
Development Management Committee to put forward the Town Council’s views. 

Any large scale development is automatically reviewed by Committee and careful consideration is 
given to the many factors involved in such development. The Town Council is acutely aware of an 
infrastructure deficit within the town and the increasing pressures which further residential 
development could bring to the parish. These issues may also apply to development which falls outside 
the parish border but which would inevitably have an impact on the town’s services. The Town Council 
is continually lobbying for improvements to the town’s infrastructure. 

During 2017-2018, the Committee gave careful consideration to and submitted a response in respect 
of the consultation regarding the draft Local Plan for Central Bedfordshire.

Transport

The Planning and Transport Committee also endeavours to liaise closely with the highways authority, 
Central Bedfordshire Council, to monitor programmed activity and road improvements, to make 
suggestions for traffic or parking improvement works and to pass on concerns raised by residents, 
particularly in respect of safety matters. In addition to responding to consultations for parking or traffic 
related proposals, the Committee has lobbied Central Bedfordshire Council for action to be taken in 
relation to commuter parking, traffic speeds, pedestrian safety issues and in particular, safer routes to 
schools for children. 

During 2016-2017 the Committee applied for and was successful in obtaining some 
funding from the highways authority for measures to include improving pedestrian 
safety on Hockliffe Street and reducing excessive traffic speeds on Mentmore Road, 
Linslade. A vehicle speed monitoring sign was installed on Mentmore Road during 
2017. 

Page 77

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjxoo-So8vZAhUIOsAKHfM5BRMQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://www.thehouseshop.com/property-blog/planning-applications-everything-you-need-to-know/3400/&psig=AOvVaw0YQ6HRWxaCvpYAS6WDzgJP&ust=1519998811098876
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjHu6Oto8vZAhXSe8AKHXqUBfAQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=http://trafficlogix.com/productsservices/safepace600&psig=AOvVaw12joGuuE0ZWaTSGogYw-oG&ust=1519998901497875


24

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

APPENDIX 1 BUDGET OUT-TURN 2017-2018

Net Net Variance
Expenditure Budget  

DIRECT SERVICES TO THE PUBLIC

Community Projects
Grants and Donations
Tactic Youth Centre
Parks and Open Spaces
Astral Park Sport and Community Centre
Community Services
Highway Schemes
Capital Projects
Use of Reserves

DEMOCRATIC, CIVIC AND CENTRAL 
COSTS              

Central Costs
The White House
Democratic Costs

  Other Costs and Income

Precept
Precept Support Grant

Transfer to Earmarked Reserves

Net surplus/(deficit)

Page 78



25

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

APPENDIX 2  

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

Councillors 2017-2018

Mayor

Syed Rahman

Councillors

Ray Berry

David Bowater

Alan Brandham

Carol Chambers

Steve Cotter

Karen Cursons

Sarah Cursons

James Davies

Amanda Dodwell

Ken Ferguson

Mark Freeman

Steve Jones

Farzana Kharawala

Tony Morris

Clive Palmer

Carole Perham

David Perham

Gordon Perham

Brian Spurr

Ewan Wallace

Page 79



26

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

APPENDIX 3 COUNCILLOR APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2017-2018

Organisation Town Council Representative(s) 

Arts Forum Gordon Perham

Buzzer Bus Mark Freeman

Carnival Committee Carol Chambers

Citizens’ Advice Bureau Karen Cursons, Sarah Cursons, Farzana 
Kharawala

Cruse Bereavement Care Bedfordshire Carol Perham

Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom Gordon Perham

Home-Start Central Bedfordshire Ken Ferguson

LB First Ewan Wallace, Farzana Kharawala

Leighton Buzzard Narrow Gauge Railway Ray Berry, Amanda Dodwell

Leighton-Linslade Senior Citizens 
Association

Farzana Kharawala, Carol Chambers

Macmillan Cancer Support Ray Berry

Meadow Way Community Association Amanda Dodwell

Music Centre Partnership Steve Jones, Gordon Perham

Music Education Hub Steering Committee Steve Jones

National Association of Local 
Councils/Bedfordshire Association of 
Town and Parish Councils

Tony Morris

Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group Alan Brandham, Tony Morris, Clive 
Palmer

People, Projects, Partnerships (P3) Clive Palmer

Rushmere Parishes Group Alan Brandham, Amanda Dodwell, Clive 
Palmer

Sandpit Project Alan Brandham, Tony Morris

Sports Council David Perham, Karen Cursons, Alan 
Brandham

The Greensand Trust Tony Morris

Town Twinning Forum Clive Palmer, Carol Perham, Gordon 
Perham

Voluntary & Community Action Carol Perham

Page 80



27

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – 2018       

Town Clerk

TACTIC

Head of 
Cultural and 

Economic 
Services

Markets

Town & 
Community 
Promotions

Partnership

Astral Park 

Head of Grounds 
and 

Environmental 
Services

Grounds

Cemeteries

Allotments 

Health and 
Safety 

Cleaner

Finance Officer Finance

Head of 
Democratic and 

Central 
Services

Administration, 
Policy & Central 

Services

Committees

Town Mayor

APPENDIX 4  
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN 
COUNCIL STAFFING 
STRUCTURE

Page 81



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 – 2018                updated February 2016 

APPENDIX 5

P
age 82



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018

29

APPENDIX 6

To consolidate processes and procedures, ensuring operational efficiency and a structure which will underpin future 
service delivery by the Town Council. 

OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS
1 Review options related to the future 

premises to house the Town Council 
and secure accommodation. 

Council Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk and 
Corporate Governance 
Manager

31st March 2017. Negotiations ongoing in respects of 
Town Council accommodation.

2 Re-accreditation of Quality status 
under new Local Council Award 
Scheme.

Council Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk and 
Corporate Governance 
Manager

Quality standard to be 
achieved in 2015; Gold 
standard in 2016

COMPLETED January 2017

3 Review and update all staff contracts of 
employment.

Personnel Sub-
Committee

Chair of Personnel, Town 
Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager

To be completed by 
December 2015

COMPLETED July 2015

4 Update Staff Handbook to include all 
staffing related policies within one 
publication.

Personnel Sub-
Committee

Chair of Personnel, Town 
Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager

To be completed by 
December 2015

COMPLETED July 2015

5 Review potential of achieving Investors 
in People and ISO accreditation

Personnel Sub-
Committee

Chair of Personnel, Town 
Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager

April 2017 COMPLETED February 2017. Agreed 
no further action at this time. 

6 Review the procedures, protocols and 
expenses related to the civic position of 
Town Mayor.

Policy & 
Finance 
Committee

Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk, Corporate 
Governance Manager

1st April 2016 COMPLETED January 2017.  

7 Develop a business plan in respect of 
income generation through the Astral 
Park Sports and Community Centre. 
Consider the implications for managing 
Mentmore and Pages Park Pavilions. 

Grounds & 
Environmental 
Committee

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service, Senior Centre 
Co-ordinator, Business & 
Projects Officer

1st April 2016 COMPLETED: Development plan 
approved.

P
age 83



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018

30

OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS
8 Investigate and develop online 

payments and bookings for all Council 
services.

Policy & 
Finance 
Committee

Chair of Policy & Finance, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service, Finance Officer

1st April 2016 Online payments COMPLETED.
Online bookings not currently under 
consideration. E-ticketing for events 
and activities under review.   

9 Undertake a full review of the Grounds 
& Environmental Services department 
and implement changes as required.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service

By the end of 2015-
2016

In progress.

10 Investigate the possibility of providing a 
Town Ranger service.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service

1st April 2016 Purchase of equipment approved July 
2015; initial focus on LLTC land and 
buildings.

11 Develop proposals to secure contract 
work for other organisations in and 
near the town.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service

1st April 2016 COMPLETED. Embedded within future 
projects. 

12 Computerisation of cemetery records. Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service

To be completed by 
31st May 2017

In progress. 

13 Develop a ten year maintenance 
programme for all the Council’s 
buildings and assets.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service

1st April 2016 COMPLETED. 

14 Expand the reach and service of the 
TACTIC centre by initiating a “hub & 
spoke” model across the town.

Cultural & 
Economic

Chair of Cultural & 
Economic, Town Clerk, 
Head of Service

1st April 2015 
1st April 2016 
1st April 2017

ACHIEVED and delivery ongoing. 
Schools offer in progress.

15 Expand and consolidate opportunities 
for two-way dialogue with residents 
and ensure greater community 
engagement in, and awareness of, LLTC 
activity.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service

Ongoing To include: greater attendance at 
meetings, Meet the Team events, 
newsletter, website, increased social 
media presence. Statistics indicate 
greater engagement via website, 
social media and revamped 
newsletter. 

P
age 84



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018

31

OBJECTIVE REPORT TP RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS
16 To secure new freehold depot premises 

for LLTC vehicles and equipment.
Council Council, Town Clerk, 

Head of Grounds
New lease premises secured 2016.
Longer term options under review. 

17 Review Big Plan II. Council All services 31st March 2016 COMPLETED. Review report 
presented to Council in January 2016.

18 Adopt a Sports Development Strategy. Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service

31st March 2016 Draft Sport and Physical Activity Plan 
developed and out for consultation.  

To promote and develop a vibrant town through partnership working and initiatives including management of the 
street market, provision of town and community promotions, town centre enhancements, tourism and practical 
support for local businesses. 
19 To continue to work with Central 

Bedfordshire Council in respect of the 
town centre, its management and its 
future development.

Partnership Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service, Town Centre & 
Markets Officer, 
Partnership Officer

Ongoing Implementation of projects funded by 
the CBC Market Towns Regeneration 
Fund underway. Implementing mews 
and alleyway signage projects. 
Continuation of promotion of land 
south of the High Street development.  

20 Secure a three year Christmas lighting 
contract.

Partnership Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service

1st May 2015. COMPLETED. Contract awarded July 
2015. New three year contract to be 
awarded in 2018. 

21 Develop a three year plan to guide the 
delivery of the jointly presented 
Christmas Festival.

Partnership, 
Events Sub-
Committee

Head of Service, Town & 
Community Promotions 
Manager, Town Centre & 
Markets Officer

1st June 2015. COMPLETED. Endorsed by committee 
September 2015. 

22 Investigate Purple Flag status for 
Leighton Buzzard town centre.

Partnership Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Head of 
Service, Town Centre & 
Markets Officer, 
Partnership Officer

1st April 2017. COMPLETED. Findings presented to 
Committee in February 2017. Decision 
taken by Committee to defer further 
consideration until Spring 2018. 

P
age 85



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018

32

OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS
23 Review and update the Market 

Development and Business Plan.
Market Sub-
Committee

Chairs of Market Sub and 
Policy & Finance, Town 
Clerk, Head of Service, 
Markets Officer

1st April 2015 COMPLETED. Development Plan 
endorsed May 2016.  Monitoring by 
Market Sub Committee. Market 
relaunch added to this plan.

24 2014 Residents’ survey: progress 
actions as agreed, following resident 
feedback. Themes: communications, 
market, parking, lighting, 
entertainment.

Cultural & 
Economic

Chair of Cultural & 
Economic, Town Clerk, 
Heads of Service 

Tbc COMPLETED. Three projects awarded 
match funding through Central 
Bedfordshire Market Towns 
Regeneration Fund.  Proposals for non 
funded projects to be considered 
further by Policy & Finance 
Committee.

25 Review and update the Tourism 
Strategy / Visitor economy.

Cultural & 
Economic

Chair of Partnership, 
Town Clerk, Heads of 
Service, Partnership 
Officer, Town & 
Community Promotions 
Manager

31st March 2016 Ongoing - Recommended to 
Committee to delete this objective 
and use allocated budget funds for 
developing visitor information and 
items which celebrate and explain the 
town’s history.  

To provide great public open spaces, varied opportunities for sport and leisure and to exceed expectations in 
delivering cemetery and allotment services. 
26 As part of the Vandyke Cemetery 

extension, to develop an additional 
complementary range of burial services 
to meet the needs of the community.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service, Cemetery 
Officer

Self-funded Mausoleum built within 
permitted development limits.  

27 Implement a range of enhancements to 
the cemetery service.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service

Tbc Options regarding environment, 
memorials etc under consideration.

28 Provision of outdoor gym facilities in 
the town (primarily through external 
funding).

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service

To be completed by 
31st May 2017 

COMPLETED in Pages Park 2015 (LLTC 
budget enhanced by S.106 developer 

P
age 86



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018

33

monies, following negotiations with 
CBC).

OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS
29 Achieve Green Flag status for three 

parks and undertake an annual 
satisfaction survey for Parks & Open 
Spaces.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service

First in 2015 with at 
least two other sites by 
2017

ACHIEVED July 2015 for Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground. 
2016 – also achieved for Pages Park 
and Vandyke Road Cemetery. 

30 Refurbish toilets in Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground.

Grounds & 
Environmental. 

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service

By summer 2016 COMPLETED May 2016. 

31 Development of Friends groups for 
various parks, cemeteries and open 
spaces.

Grounds & 
Environmental.

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service

1st April 2017 First target site: Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground. No groups yet 
created despite promotions.

32 Develop and implement individual Park 
Management Plans, to include 
outcomes of Access Assessments on all 
parks and open spaces.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service

First three plans by end 
of 2015-16; all plans in 
place by April 2017

COMPLETED.

33 Support the “In Bloom” committee in 
the creation and implementation of a 
three year improvement programme.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Service

By end of 2015 COMPLETED and endorsed by 
committee in December 2015. 

To continue to progress projects arising from Big Plan II (the adopted parish plan for 2011-2017)
34 Celebrate the heritage of the Parish 

through information, interactive 
exhibits or educational resources. 
Consider a Town Trail or continuing 
celebration of the town’s connections 
with The Borrowers.

Cultural & 
Economic

Chair of Cultural & 
Economic, Head of 
Service, 

Historic legacy project proposals 
presented to Committee during 2016 
and deferred for future consideration. 

P
age 87



TOWN COUNCIL THREE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2015 - 2018

34

OBJECTIVE REPORT TO RESPONSIBLE DRAFT TIMESCALE COMMENTS
35 Establish the town as a sports town 

with a fit and healthy population, that 
can use locally available high quality 
sport and physical activity 
opportunities.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds

Ongoing The emerging Sports and Physical 
Activities Development Plan will drive 
forward sporting provision and 
wellbeing themed activities within the 
town. 
Junior Parkrun now established. 

36 Securing external funding where 
possible, to develop existing and new 
sporting & leisure facilities.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds

Ongoing Also sits in Cultural & Economic 
Services Committee in respect of 
community facilities.

37 Provision of additional adult and junior 
football pitches as Astral Park.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds

COMPLETED.  

38 Support Linslade Tennis Club with its 
planned expansion at Mentmore Park.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds

Dependant upon 
Tennis Club 

Planning permission granted in 
January 2018. The Club is now looking 
at potential funding streams.  

39 Continue to build on the success of the 
Anglia in Bloom competition by 
encouraging community involvement, 
developing more links with local 
businesses and encouraging more 
involvement from local schools.

Grounds & 
Environmental

Chair of Grounds & 
Environmental, Head of 
Grounds

Ongoing Ongoing through the agreed 
development plan for In Bloom, 
delivered by the volunteer steering 
group with support from the Grounds 
and Environmental Services team.

40 Continue to improve walking routes to 
the town centre, railway station and 
local schools.

Council and 
committees

All committees and 
service areas

Ongoing This remains an ongoing project for 
both councils. 

P
age 88



35

4

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

E: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

T: 01525 631920
Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 14
Contains information provided by a 
political advisor or assistant.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	8 COMMITTEE MINUTES
	180215  Partnership draft
	180226 Policy & Finance draft
	180228 Planning
	180305 G & E draft
	180312 C+E draft
	180416 Policy & Finance draft
	180418 Planning draft

	9 ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018
	14 LAND EAST OF BILLINGTON ROAD

